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Independent Auditors’ Report 
To the Shareholder of Emirates Development Bank 

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Emirates Development Bank 
(“the Bank”) and its subsidiary (“the Group”), which comprise the consolidated 
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018, the consolidated statements 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for 
the year then ended, and notes, comprising significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all 
material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 
2018, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the consolidated Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with International Ethics 
Standards Board for Accountants Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA 
Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements in the United Arab Emirates (“UAE”), and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the 
IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

 
Emphasis of Matter 
 
We draw attention to Article No 6 of the Federal Law Decree No (7), issued on 18 
September 2011, which requires the paid up capital of the Bank to be AED 5 billion. 
The Bank is not in compliance with the Article as at 31 December 2018. Our opinion 
is not modified in respect of this matter. 
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Key Audit Matters  

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most 
significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. 
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters.  

Impairment of Loans and Advances 

Refer to note 3.17 for transition impact and note 4.2 of the consolidated financial 
statements for year-end disclosures. 
 
IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (“IFRS 9”) was adopted by the Group on 1 January 2018 
and has resulted in a change in accounting for impairment from an incurred loss model 
to an expected credit loss (“ECL”) model which involves complex estimates and 
judgements. IFRS 9 requires certain transition adjustments to retained earnings on the 
date of adoption, being 1 January 2018 

Estimating impairment amounts involves the use of statistical models and 
methodologies for determination of expected credit losses and a change in processes, 
data and control. Additionally, there are new disclosure requirements regarding impact 
of initial application of IFRS 9 and explanation of key judgements and material inputs 
used in determination of expected credit losses. 
 
Given the inherently judgemental nature of computation of ECL for loans and advances, 
this is considered as a key audit matter. 
 

Our Response 

We  obtained an understanding of the Group’s loan impairment process including the 
governance framework around model review, validation and approval of ECL model, 
data gathering and underlying estimates and assumptions used by the management. 
 
Our procedures, amongst others, included the following: 

 Performing credit reviews on a sample of selected borrowers to assess the 
appropriateness of staging of the borrowers in the ECL model.  

 Sample testing over key inputs and assumptions impacting ECL calculations, to 
assess the relevance of information used by the management. 

 Involved our internal Financial Risk Modelling (“FRM”) specialists to assist us in 
assessing the reasonableness and appropriateness of the methodology and 
assumptions used in various components of ECL modelling. This included 
challenging key assumptions and judgements relating to significant increase in 
credit risk, definition of default, probability of default, recovery rates, use of macro-
economic variables and probability weighted outcomes. Our specialists also re-
performed some elements of the Group’s models calculations and evaluated the 
models performance results. 
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Impairment of Loans and Advances (continued) 

Our Response (continued) 

 Assessing the appropriateness of management judgment over post-model 
adjustments and management overlays. 

 Assessing the adequacy of disclosures against the requirements of IFRS 9 

 

Valuation of Unquoted Investments 

Refer to note 3.2 for significant accounting policies and note 9 of the consolidated 
financial statements for year-end disclosures. 

Valuation of unquoted investments involves the application of valuation techniques 
which often involve significant judgment and the use of assumptions and estimates. 
Due to the estimation uncertainty in relation to the fair values, this is considered as a 
key audit matter.  

Our Response 

For valuation of unquoted investments, we assessed both the methodology and 
assumptions including key inputs used by management appointed independent 
valuation experts in estimating the fair value of unquoted equity investments. 

Our procedures included the following: 

 Assessing the competence, independence and integrity of the external valuation 
experts and read their terms of engagement with the Group to determine whether 
there were any matters that might have affected their objectivity or may have 
imposed scope limitations on their work. 

 Challenging valuation methodology and assumptions used within the calculations 
(e.g. multiplies, discount rate used, etc.). 

 Comparing observable inputs used in the valuations calculations against 
independent sources and externally available market data. 

 Assessing the adequacy of the Bank's disclosures including the accuracy of the 
categorization into the fair value measurement hierarchy and adequacy of the 
disclosure of the valuation techniques, significant unobservable inputs, and the 
sensitivity to key assumptions. 

 

Valuation of Investment Properties 

Refer to note 3.7 for significant accounting policies and note 10 of the consolidated 
financial statements for year-end disclosures. 

Valuation of investment properties is judgmental as it often requires using a valuation 
methodology such as discounted cash flows or comparable market transactions which 
results in significant estimation uncertainty. Due to the general context of the UAE real 
estate sector, the valuation results of different methodology may vary. This is therefore 
considered a key audit matter. 

  



Emirates Development Bank  
  Independent Auditors’ Report 

31 December 2018 

4 
KPMG Lower Gulf Limited is a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International  
Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved. 
KPMG Lower Gulf Limited is registered and licensed as a foreign branch under the laws of the United Arab Emirates. 
 

Valuation of Investment Properties (continued) 

Our Response 

Our procedures included the following: 

 We assessed the competence, independence and integrity of the external valuers 
and read their terms of engagement with the Group to determine whether there 
were any matters that might have affected their objectivity or may have imposed 
scope limitations on their work. 

 We obtained the external valuation reports for all properties and assessed whether 
the valuation approach is in accordance with appraisal and valuation standards 
suitable for use in determining the fair value in the consolidated statement of 
financial position in line with the requirements of IFRS 13. 

 We assessed the reasonableness of any adjustments and assumptions used by the 
valuers and the reasonableness of the discount rates or capitalization rates applied 
on income streams generated by the properties. 

 We checked the adequacy of the disclosure in the consolidated financial 
statements. 

 

Responsibilities of Management and those Charged with Governance for 
the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with IFRS and their preparation in compliance with 
the applicable provisions of the Federal Decree Law No. (7) of 2011, and for such internal 
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for 
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial 
reporting process. 

 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements (continued) 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and 
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as 
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
the override of internal control. 

 
 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 

audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. 

 
 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 

of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.  
 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis 
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the 
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures 
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 
 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial 

statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial 
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation. 

 
 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of 

the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision 
and performance of the group audit.  We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion. 
 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
 
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have 
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and 
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be 
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 
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Consolidated Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
for the year ended 31 December 

 

  2018 2017 

 Note AED’000 AED’000 

Income    
Interest income 18 145,284 126,736 

Interest expense 19 (39,595) (36,804) 

  ------------------------ ------------------------ 

Net interest income  105,689 89,932 
 

   
Profit from Murabaha, Ijarah and Estisnaa 

 
7,309 1,812 

  ------------------------ ------------------------ 

Net interest and profit income  112,998 91,744 

    

Investment income 20 16,608 20,467 

Fees and Commission Income 21 12,301 9,884 

Other income 22 21,018 20,805 
    

  ------------------------ ------------------------ 

Total operating income  162,925 142,900 

  ------------------------ ------------------------ 

Expenses    
Salaries and employee benefits  (46,200) (35,892) 

Operating and administrative expenses 23 (31,450) (27,229) 

Impairment charge 24 (13,230) (22,398) 

  ------------------------ ------------------------ 

Profit before revaluation of     
   investment property and financial     

investments at FVTPL  72,045 57,381 

  ------------------------ ------------------------ 

Loss on revaluation of investment     
property and financial investments at FVTPL 9, 10 (30,374) (18,280) 

  ------------------------ ------------------------ 

Profit for the year              41,671 39,101 

  =========== =========== 

Other comprehensive income  
  

    

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or 

loss    
(Decrease) / Increase in financial     
      investments at FVOCI / available-for –sale     

financial investments  (42,503) 1,076 

  ------------------------ ------------------------ 

Total comprehensive (loss) / income  (42,503) 1,076 

  ------------------------ ------------------------ 

Total (loss) / profit and comprehensive income  (832) 40,177 

  =========== =========== 

 

The notes on pages 11 to 81 form an integral part of these financial statements. 

 

The independent auditors’ report is set out on pages 1 to 6. 
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Consolidated Statement of changes in equity 
for the year ended 31 December 

Share Special Proposed Retained Fair value

capital reserve Capital injection earnings reserve Total

AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000

Balance at 1 January 2017 2,195,996 555,464  

555,464

-    466,515     72,905 3,290,880 

Total comprehensive income:  

Net profit for the year - - - 39,101 - 39,101

Other comprehensive income: 

Net change in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets - - - - 1,076 1,076

---------------------- ---------------------- ---------------------- ---------------------- ---------------------- ----------------------

Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 39,101 1,076 40,177

Proposed capital injection (Note 16) - - 10,689 - - 10,689

Transfer to Special reserve (Note 16) - 3,911 - (3,911) - -

---------------------- ---------------------- ---------------------- ---------------------- ---------------------- ----------------------

Balance at 31 December 2017  2,195,996  559,375  10,689  501,705  73,981  3,341,746

=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ===========

Balance at 31 December 2017 2,195,996 559,375 10,689 501,705 73,981 3,341,746 

Cumulative effect of adopting IFRS 9 (Note 3.22) - - - (1,473) 1,473 - 

----------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ 

Balance at 1 January 2018 2,195,996 559,375 10,689 500,232 75,454 3,341,746 

Total comprehensive income: 

Profit for the year - - - 41,671 - 41,671

Other comprehensive income: 

Net change in fair value of financial investments at FVOCI - - - 13,085 (42,503) (29,418) 

---------------------- ---------------------- ---------------------- ---------------------- ---------------------- ---------------------- 

Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 54,756 (42,503) 12,253 

Increase in paid up capital  850,000 - - - - 850,000 
Retained earnings transfers 501,705 - - (501,705) - - 

Proposed capital injection (Note 16) 10,689 - (10,689) - - 

Transfer to Special reserve (Note 16) - 4,167 - (4,167) - - 

----------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ 

At 31 December 2018 3,558,390 563,542 - 49,116 32,951 4,203,999 

=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== 

The notes on pages 11 to 81 form an integral part of these financial statement.
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Consolidated Statement of cash flows 
for the year ended 31 December 

    

 2018 2017 

 Note AED’000 AED’000 

Cash flows from operating activities    

Profit for the year  41,671 39,101 
    

Adjustments for:    

Depreciation 12 8,491 11,609 

Net fair value loss and disposal of financial assets 

through profit or loss 
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5,831 

 

17,213 

Fair value loss on valuation of investment properties 10 24,860 19,320 

Dividend and investment income  (16,925) (18,922) 

Amortization of premium / (discount) on investment 

securities 

  

688 

 

- 

Provision for employees’ end of service benefits  1,058 650 

Provision for impairment of loans and advances - net    13,230 22,398 

Impairment of fixed assets  2,029 - 
  _______________________ _______________________ 

  80,933 91,369 
  _______________________ _______________________ 
Changes in:    

Due from banks maturing after three months  (340,000) 629,999 

Loans and advances  (544,559) (269,180) 

Murabaha, Ijarah and Estisnaa contracts  (269,722) (14,197) 

Other assets  (16,894) 6,740 
Deposits and funds from governmental authorities   (526,936) (432,769) 

Other liabilities  114,985 16,350 

Staff end of service benefits paid  (353) (210) 
  _______________________ _______________________ 

Net cash (used) / generated from operating activities  (1,502,546) 28,102 
 

 _______________________ _______________________ 

Cash flows from investing activities    
Purchase of property and equipment, net of disposals             277 (5,579) 
Dividend received  19,184 17,460 
Movement of FVOCI / available-for-sale investments    (256,512) (15,907) 
 

 _______________________ _______________________ 

Net cash used in investing activities  (237,051) (4,026) 
  

_______________________ _______________________ 

Cash flows from financing activities    
Increase in paid up capital  850,000 - 
 

 _______________________ _______________________ 

Net cash generated from financing activities  850,000 - 
  

_______________________ _______________________ 

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash 
equivalents  (889,597) 24,076 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January   2,881,643 2,857,567 

 
 _______________________ _______________________ 

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 26 1,992,046 2,881,643 
 

 _______________________ _______________________ 

  

The notes on pages 11 to 81 form an integral part of these financial statements. 

 

The independent auditors’ report is set out on pages 1 to 6. 
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1 Legal status and principal activities 

 

Emirates Development Bank (“EDB”, “the Bank”), was incorporated as a shareholding 

company fully owned by the Federal Government of United Arab Emirates as per the Federal 

Decree Law No. 7 (“the Law”) issued on 18 September 2011, by merging the operations and 

assets and liabilities of Emirates Industrial Bank (“EIB”) and Real Estate Bank (“REB”), both 

existing Federal banks that were established under separate laws (“the merged banks”). The 

Federal Decree Law No. 7 was signed by the President of the United Arab Emirates and 

became effective from 30 September 2011.  
 

The registered address of the Bank is P.O. Box 51515, Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates. 
 

The main objectives of the Bank are to promote economic development growth in the United Arab 

Emirates and diversify its sources of income through establishing new industries and strengthening 

existing ones. 
 

The Bank together with its subsidiary (together referred to as the “Group”) is engaged in providing 

industrial and real estate loans; and providing online moveable collateral registry services in UAE. 
 

These consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of 

Directors on 24th April 2019. 

 

2 Basis of preparation 
 

2.1 Statement of compliance 
 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 

(IASB) and the applicable requirements of the Federal Decree Law No. 7 issued on 18 September 

2011.  

 

2.2 Basis of measurement 
 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, 

as modified by the revaluation of investment properties, financial assets at fair value through other 

comprehensive income and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss all of which are 

carried at fair value.  

 

2.3 Functional and presentation currency 
 

These consolidated financial statements are presented in United Arab Emirates Dirham (“AED”), 

which is the Group’s functional currency. Amounts have been rounded to nearest thousand except 

where otherwise indicated. 

 

2.4 Use of estimates and judgments 
 

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, management has made judgments, estimates 

and assumptions that affect the application of the Group’s accounting policies and the reported 

amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.  
 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to estimates 

are recognised prospectively. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or 

areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated  financial statements are 

disclosed in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements. 
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2  Basis of preparation (continued) 
 

2.5 Basis of consolidation 
 

Subsidiaries are investees that controlled by the Group. The Group controls the investee if it meets 

the control criteria. The Group reassesses whether it has control if, there are changes to one or more 

of the elements of control. This includes circumstances in which protective rights held become 

substantive and lead to the Group having power over an investee. The financial statements of 

subsidiaries are included in these consolidated financial statements from the date that control 

commences until the date that control ceases.  
 

Transactions eliminated on consolidation 
 

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses (except for foreign 

currency transaction gains or losses) arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated in 

preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way 

as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment. 

 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Bank and its 

following subsidiary: 

 

Legal Name 
Country of 

incorporation 

Year of 

incorporation 
Holding % 

    

Emirates Moveable Collateral Registry 

Corporation – Sole Proprietorship L.L.C 
United Arab Emirates 2018 100% 
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3         Significant accounting policies 
 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in 

these consolidated financial statements, except IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 which the Group has applied 

from 1 January 2018, as described in the following note. 

 

3.1 New amendments and standards adopted 
 

(a) IFRS 9 Financial Instruments  
 

The Group has adopted IFRS 9, as issued by the IASB in July 2014 with a date of transition of 1 

January 2018, which resulted in changes in accounting policies and adjustments to the amounts 

previously recognised in the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended 31 

December 2017. 

 

The adoption of IFRS 9 has resulted in changes in the accounting policies for recognition, 

classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities and impairment of financial 

assets. IFRS 9 also significantly amends other standards dealing with financial instruments such as 

IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’. 
 

Due to the transition method chosen by the Group in applying IFRS 9, comparative information 

throughout these consolidated financial statements has not been restated to reflect its requirements. 
 

Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities  
 

IFRS 9 contains three principal classification categories for financial assets: measured at amortised 

cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and fair value through profit or loss 

(FVTPL). IFRS 9 classification is generally based on the business model in which a financial asset is 

managed and its contractual cash flows. The standard eliminates the existing IAS 39 categories of 

held-to-maturity, loans and receivables and available-for-sale. 

 
IFRS 9 largely retains the requirements in IAS 39 for the classification of financial liabilities. 

However, although under IAS 39 all fair value changes of liabilities designated under the fair value 

option were recognised in the consolidated income statement, under IFRS 9 fair value changes are 

generally presented as follows: 
 

- The amount of change in the fair value that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of the 

liability is presented in OCI; and 

- The remaining amount of change in the fair value is presented in the consolidated income 

statement. 

 

Impairment of financial assets 

 

IFRS 9 replaces the 'incurred loss' model in IAS 39 with an 'expected credit loss' model. The new 

impairment model also applies to certain loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts but not 

to equity investments. Under IFRS 9, credit losses are recognised earlier than under IAS 39. 

 

The Group applies three-stage approach to measuring expected credit losses (ECL) on financial assets 

carried at amortised cost and debt instruments classified as FVOCI. Assets migrate through the 

following three stages based on the change in credit quality since initial recognition. 
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3         Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
3.1 New amendments and standards adopted (continued) 

 

(a) IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued) 

 

Impairment of financial assets (continued) 

 

Stage 1: 12 months ECL - not credit impaired 

Stage 1 includes financial assets on initial recognition and that do not have a significant increase in 

credit risk since the initial recognition or that have low credit risk. For these assets, ECL are 

recognised on the gross carrying amount of the asset based on the expected credit losses that result 

from default events that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Interest is computed 

on the gross carrying amount of the asset. 

 

Stage 2: Lifetime ECL - not credit impaired 

Stage 2 includes financial assets that have had a significant increase in credit risk since initial 

recognition but that do not have objective evidence of impairment. For these assets, lifetime ECL are 

recognised, but interest is still calculated on the gross carrying amount of the asset. Lifetime ECL are 

the expected credit losses that result from all possible default events over the expected life of the 

financial instrument. 

 

Stage 3: Lifetime ECL - credit impaired 

Stage 3 includes financial assets that have objective evidence of impairment at the reporting date. For 

these assets, the allowance for credit losses captures the lifetime ECL. 

 

Transition 

 

Changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 have been applied 

retrospectively, except as described below: 

 

a) Comparative periods have not been restated. Differences in the carrying amounts of financial 

assets and financial liabilities resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 are recognised in retained 

earnings and reserves as at 1 January 2018. Accordingly, the information presented for 2017 

does not reflect the requirements of IFRS 9 and therefore is not comparable to the information 

presented for 2018 under IFRS 9. 

 

b) The following assessments have been made on the basis of the facts and circumstances that 

existed at the date of initial application. 

 

- The designation and revocation of previous designations of certain financial assets and 

financial liabilities as measured at FVTPL.  

- The determination of the business model within which a financial asset is held. 

- The designation of certain investments in equity instruments not held for trading as at 

FVOCI. 

- If a debt security had low credit risk at the date of initial application of IFRS 9, then the Group 

has assumed that credit risk on the asset had not increased significantly since its initial 

recognition. 

  

For more details on changes and implications resulting from adoption of IFRS 9, see note 3.17. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

3.1 New amendments and standards adopted (continued) 

 

(b) IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers  
 

The Group implemented the new revenue recognition standard with effect from 1 January 2018. IFRS 

15 provides a principles-based approach for revenue recognition, and introduces the concept of 

recognising revenue for performance obligations, as they are satisfied. The Group’s fee and 

commission income from contracts with customers was not impacted by the adoption of IFRS 15 and 

is limited to the new disclosure requirements. 

 

3.2 Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 
 

3.2.1 Recognition 
 

The Group initially recognises loans and advances to customers, Murabaha, Ijarah and Estisnaa 

contracts, due from / to banks, customer deposits, debt securities and other borrowings on the 

date at which they are originated. All other financial assets and liabilities are initially 

recognised on the trade date at which the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions 

of the instrument. 

 

3.2.2 Classification and Initial Measurement 
 

Financial Assets 
 

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 
 

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost, FVOCI or 

FVTPL. 
 

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and 

is not designated as at FVTPL: 
 

- The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect 

contractual cash flows; and 

- The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that 

are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

A debt instrument is measured at FVOCI only if it meets both of the following conditions and is 

not designated as at FVTPL: 
 

- The asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting 

contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and 

- The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that 

are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.  

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably 

elect to present subsequent changes in fair value in OCI. This election is made on an investment-

by-investment basis. 
 

All other financial assets are classified as measured at FVTPL. 
 

In addition, on initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that 

otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if 

doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

3.2 Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (continued) 

 

3.2.2 Classification and Initial Measurement (continued) 

 

Financial Assets (continued) 

 

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (continued) 

 

Business model assessment 
 

The Group makes an assessment of the objective of a business model in which a financial asset is 

held at a portfolio level because this best reflects the way the business is managed and information 

is provided to management. The information considered includes: 
 

- The stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in 

practice; 

- How the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Group’s 

management; 

- The risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held 

within that business model) and how those risks are managed; 

- How managers of the business are compensated; and 

- The frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and 

its expectations about future sales activity. 

Financial assets that are held for trading or managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair 

value basis are measured at FVTPL because they are neither held to collect contractual cash flows 

nor held both to collect contractual cash flows and to sell financial assets. 

 

Assessment of whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest 

 

For the purposes of this assessment, 'principal' is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on 

initial recognition. 'Interest' is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the 

credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and 

for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as profit 

margin. 

 

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the 

Group considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the 

financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual 

cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making the assessment, the Group 

considers contingent events that would change the amount and timing of cash flows, prepayment 

and extension terms, terms that limit the Group's claim to cash flows from specified assets and 

features that modify consideration of the time value of money. 

 

Reclassifications 

 

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except in the period after 

the Group changes its business model for managing financial assets. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

3.2 Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (continued) 

 

3.2.2 Classification and Initial Measurement (continued) 

 

Financial Assets (continued) 

 

Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2018 
 

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: at fair value through profit or 

loss; loans receivable; Murabaha; Ijarah and Estisnaa contracts; and available-for-sale. The 

classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. Management 

determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition. 

 

 Loans, Murabaha, Ijarah and Estisnaa contracts 
 

Loans are issued by the Group by providing money directly to the borrowers and are carried at 

amortised cost. All loans are recognised when cash is advanced to the borrowers. 

 

Murabaha contracts represent financing for the purchase of industrial goods by the borrowers on a 

deferred payment basis. A Murabaha contract is recognised when money is disbursed to the supplier 

for the supply of industrial goods to the borrower. 

 

Estisnaa contracts represent financing for the construction of industrial civil works on a deferred 

payment basis. An Estisnaa contract is recognised when money is disbursed to the contractor for 

the construction of civil works for the borrower. 

 

Other Estisnaa contracts are followed by Ijarah contract between the Bank and Emirates Real Estate 

Corporation, whereby Emirates Real Estate Corporation, based on an order from the Bank, 

undertakes to construct and subsequently lease the subject matter of the contract according to a 

specific price and method of payment. 

 

Estisnaa contracts are recognized as receivables at an amount equal to the net investment in the 

Estisnaa when cash is advanced. The net investment in the lease is the gross investment in the lease 

less unearned finance income. Estisnaa are carried at amortised cost using the effective profit rate 

method. 

 

Loans, Murabaha and Estisnaa are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 

payments that are not quoted in an active market. Loans, Murabaha and Estisnaa are initially 

recognised at fair value, which is the cash consideration to originate or purchase the loan including 

any transaction costs – and measured subsequently at amortised cost. Loans, Murabaha and 

Estisnaa contracts are reported in the statement of financial position as Loans and advances and as 

Murabaha and Estisnaa contracts. Interest on loans is included in the statement of profit or loss and 

other comprehensive income. In the case of impairment, the impairment loss is reported as a 

deduction from the carrying value of the Loans, Murabaha and Estisnaa and are recognised in the 

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as ‘provision for impairment of loans 

and advances’. 
 

Ijarah contracts are finance lease contracts. The Ijarah contract term constitutes the major part of 

the economic life of the asset, and the significant risks and rewards incidental to ownership, are 

substantially transferred to the lessee. Title may or may not eventually be transferred to the lessee. 
 



Emirates Development Bank 
 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
 

 

18 

 

3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

3.2 Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (continued) 

 

3.2.2 Classification and Initial Measurement (continued) 

 

Financial Assets (continued) 

 

Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2018 (continued) 

 

 Loans, Murabaha, Ijarah and Estisnaa contracts (continued) 

 

Ijarah contracts are recognized as receivables at an amount equal to the net investment in the 

Ijarah when cash is advanced. The net investment in the lease is the gross investment in the 

lease less unearned finance income. Ijarah contracts are carried at amortised cost using the 

effective profit rate method. 
 

Profit on Ijarah and Estisnaa contracts are recognised on accrual basis and time-apportioned 

using the effective profit rate method. Profit on Ijarah and Estisnaa contracts are not recognised 

when the recovery of the profit is in doubt. 

 

Available-for-sale financial assets 
 

‘Available-for-sale investments’ are non-derivative investments that are designated as available-for- 

sale or are not classified as another category of financial assets. Available-for-sale investments 

comprise equity securities and debt securities. Unquoted equity securities whose fair value cannot 

be measured reliably are carried at cost. All other available-for-sale investments are measured at fair 

value after initial recognition. 
 

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method. Dividend income 

is recognised in profit or loss when the Group becomes entitled to the dividend. Foreign exchange 

gains or losses on available-for-sale debt security investments are recognised in profit or loss. 

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.  
 

Other fair value changes, other than impairment losses, are recognised in Other Comprehensive 

Income and presented in the fair value reserve within equity. When the investment is sold, the gain 

or loss accumulated in equity is reclassified to profit or loss. 

 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for trading. A 

financial asset is classified in this category if acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of 

selling or repurchasing it in the near term or if it is a part of a portfolio of identified financial 

instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of 

short-term profit taking. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

3.2 Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (continued) 

 

3.2.2 Classification and Initial Measurement (continued) 

 

Financial Liabilities 

 

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 

 

The Group has classified and measured its financial liabilities at amortised cost. 

 

Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2018 
 

Financial liabilities were initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. Financial liabilities 

were subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective profit method, with profit expense 

recognised on an effective yield basis. 
 

The effective profit rate method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability 

and of allocating profit expense over the relevant period. The effective profit rate is the rate that is 

exactly required to unwind estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial 

liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.  
 

3.2.3 Derecognition 
 

De-recognition of financial assets  
 

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial 

asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and 

rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred, or in which the Group neither transfers nor retains 

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset. 

 

Any interest in transferred financial assets that qualify for derecognition that is created or retained 

by the Group is recognised as a separate asset or liability in the consolidated statement of financial 

position. 

 

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset (or 

the carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset transferred), and consideration received 

(including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) and any cumulative gain or loss 

that had been recognised in OCI is recognised in the consolidated income statement. 

 

From 1 January 2018, any cumulative gain/loss recognised in OCI in respect of equity investment 

securities designated as at FVOCI is not recognised in the consolidated income statement on 

derecognition of such securities. 
 

In transactions in which the Group neither retains nor transfers substantially all the risks and 

rewards of ownership of a financial asset and it retains control over the asset, the Group continues 

to recognise the asset to the extent of its continuing involvement, determined by the extent to which 

it is exposed to changes in the value of the transferred asset. 

 

In certain transactions, the Group retains the obligation to service the transferred financial asset for 

a fee. The transferred asset is derecognised if it meets the derecognition criteria. An asset or liability 

is recognised for the servicing contract, depending on whether the servicing fee is more than 

adequate (asset) or is less than adequate (liability) for performing the servicing. 
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 3   Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

3.2 Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (continued) 
 

3.2.3 Derecognition 

 

De-recognition of financial liabilities  

 

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are 

discharged, cancelled or expired. 

 

3.2.4 Modification of financial assets and liabilities 

 

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018  

 

Financial Assets  
 

If the terms of a financial asset are modified, then the Group evaluates whether the cash flows of 

the modified asset are substantially different. If the cash flows are substantially different, then the 

contractual rights to cash flows from the original financial asset are deemed to have expired. In this 

case, the original financial asset is derecognized and a new financial asset is recognised at fair value 

plus any eligible transaction costs. Any fees received as part of the modification are accounted for 

as follows: 

 

- fees that are considered in determining the fair value of the new asset and fees that represent 

reimbursement of eligible transaction costs are included in the initial measurement of the 

asset; and 

- other fees are included in profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on derecognition. 

If cash flows are modified when the borrower is in financial difficulties, then the objective of the 

modification is usually to maximise recovery of the original contractual terms rather than to 

originate a new asset with substantially different terms. If the Group plans to modify a financial 

asset in a way that would result in forgiveness of cash flows, then it first considers whether a portion 

of the asset should be written off before the modification takes place. This approach impacts the 

result of the quantitative evaluation and means that the derecognition criteria are not usually met in 

such cases. 

 

If the modification of a financial asset measured at amortised cost or FVOCI does not result in 

derecognition of the financial asset, then the Group first recalculates the gross carrying amount of 

the financial asset using the original effective interest rate of the asset and recognises the resulting 

adjustment as a modification gain or loss in profit or loss. For floating-rate financial assets, the 

original effective interest rate used to calculate the modification gain or loss is adjusted to reflect 

current market terms at the time of the modification. Any costs or fees incurred and fees received 

as part of the modification adjust the gross carrying amount of the modified financial asset and are 

amortised over the remaining term of the modified financial asset. 

 

If such a modification is carried out because of financial difficulties of the borrower, then the gain 

or loss is presented together with impairment losses. In other cases, it is presented as interest income 

calculated using the effective interest rate method. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

3.2 Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (continued) 

 

3.2.4 Modification of financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

 

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (continued) 

 

Financial Liabilities 

 

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the 

modified liability are substantially different. In this case, a new financial liability based on the 

modified terms is recognised at fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of the 

financial liability derecognised and consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss.  Consideration 

paid includes non-financial assets transferred, if any, and the assumption of liabilities, including 

the new modified financial liability. 

 
If the modification of a financial liability is not accounted for as derecognition, then the amortised 

cost of the liability is recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows at the original effective 

interest rate and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. For floating-rate financial 

liabilities, the original effective interest rate used to calculate the modification gain or loss is 

adjusted to reflect current market terms at the time of the modification. Any costs and fees incurred 

are recognised as an adjustment to the carrying amount of the liability and amortised over the 

remaining term of the modified financial liability by re-computing the effective interest rate on the 

instrument. 
 

Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2018 

 

Financial Assets 
 

If the terms of a financial asset were modified, then the Group evaluated whether the cash flows of 

the modified asset were substantially different. If the cash flows were substantially different, then 

the contractual rights to cash flows from the original financial asset were deemed to have expired. 

In this case, the original financial asset was derecognised and a new financial asset was recognised 

at fair value. 
 

If the terms of a financial asset were modified because of financial difficulties of the borrower and 

the asset was not derecognised, then impairment of the asset was measured using the 

premodification interest rate 
 

Financial Liabilities 
 

The Group derecognised a financial liability when its terms were modified and the cash flows of 

the modified liability were substantially different. In this case, a new financial liability based on 

the modified terms was recognised at fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of the 

financial liability extinguished and consideration paid was recognised in profit or loss. 

Consideration paid included non-financial assets transferred, if any, and the assumption of 

liabilities, including the new modified financial liability.  
 

If the modification of a financial liability was not accounted for as derecognition, then any costs 

and fees incurred were recognised as an adjustment to the carrying amount of the liability and 

amortised over the remaining term of the modified financial liability by re-computing the effective 

interest rate on the instrument. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

3.2 Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (continued) 

 

3.2.5 Offsetting 
 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial 

position when, and only when, the Group has a legal right to set off the recognised amounts and it 

intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
 

Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under IFRS, or for gains 

and losses arising from a group of similar transactions such as in the Group’s trading activity. 
 

3.2.6 Measurement Principles 
 

Amortised Cost Measurement 
 

The amortised cost of a financial asset or liability is the amount at which the financial asset or 

liability is measured at initial recognition, minus principal repayments, plus or minus the 

cumulative amortisation using the effective interest rate method of any difference between the 

initial amount recognised and the maturity amount, minus any reduction for impairment loss. The 

calculation of effective interest rate includes all fees paid or received that are an integral part of the 

effective interest rate. For presentation purposes, accrued interest is disclosed under other assets / 

liabilities. 

 

Fair Value Measurement 
 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 

orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal market of 

the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for 

the asset or liability which the Group has access to as at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects 

its non-performance risk. 

 

When one is available, the Group measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price 

in an active market for that instrument. A market is regarded as ‘active’ if transactions for the asset 

or liability take place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an 

ongoing basis. 

 

If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Group uses valuation techniques that 

maximise the use of relevant observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. The 

chosen valuation technique incorporates all of the factors that market participants would take into 

account in pricing a transaction. 

 

The Group measures the fair value of listed investments at the market price for the investment. For 

unlisted investments, the Group recognises any change in the fair value based on valuation 

techniques. Valuations of unlisted investments is carried out annually. 
 

The fair value of investments in mutual funds and portfolios whose units are unlisted are measured 

at the net asset value adjusted for market characteristics reported as at the end of the reporting 

period. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

3.2 Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (continued) 

 

3.2.7 Impairment 
 

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 
 

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECL) on the following financial 

instruments that are not measured at FVTPL: 

 

- Financial assets that are debt instruments; and 

- Loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts. 

No impairment loss is recognised on equity instruments. 
 

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, except for the following, 

for which they are measured as 12-month ECL: 

 

- Debt investment securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; 

and  

- Other financial instruments on which credit risk has not increased significantly since their 

initial recognition. 

The Group considers a debt investment security to have low credit risk when its credit risk rating 

is equivalent to the globally understood definition of ‘investment grade’. The Group does not apply 

the low credit risk exemption to any other financial instruments.  
 

12-month ECL are the portion of ECL that result from default events on financial instruments that 

are possible with the 12 months after the reporting date. Financial instruments for which a 12-

months ECL is recognised are referred to as “Stage 1 financial instruments”. 
 

Life-time ECL are the ECL that results from all possible default events over the expected life of 

the financial instruments. Financial instruments for which a life-time ECL is recognised but which 

are not credit-impaired are referred to as “Stage 2 financial instruments”. 

 

Impairment and ECL are used interchangeably throughout these consolidated financial statements.  
 

Measurement of ECL 
 

ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. They are measured as follows: 
 

- Financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the present value of all 

cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance 

with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive); 

- Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between the 

gross carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows; 

- Undrawn loan commitments: as the present value of the difference between the contractual 

cash flows that are due to the Group if the commitment is drawn down and the cash flows 

that the Group expects to receive; and 

- Financial guarantee contracts: the expected payments to reimburse the holder less any 

amounts that the Group expects to recover. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

3.2 Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (continued) 

 

3.2.7 Impairment (continued) 
 

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (continued) 
 

Restructured financial assets 

If the terms of a financial asset are renegotiated or modified or an existing financial asset is replaced 

with a new one due to financial difficulties of the borrower, then an assessment is made of whether 

the financial asset should be derecognised and ECL are measured as follows: 
 

- If the expected restructuring will not result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the 

expected cash flows arising from the modified financial asset are included in calculating the 

cash shortfalls from the existing asset. 

- If the expected restructuring will result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the 

expected fair value of the new asset is treated as the final cash flow from the existing 

financial asset at the time of its derecognition. This amount is included in calculating the 

cash shortfalls from the existing financial asset that are discounted from the expected date 

of derecognition to the reporting date using the original effective interest rate of the existing 

financial asset. 

Credit-impaired financial assets  
 

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and 

debt financial assets carried at FVOCI are credit impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ 

when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the 

financial asset have occurred. 
 

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data: 

- Significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer; 

- A breach of contract such as a default or past due event; 

- The restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the Group would not 

consider otherwise; 

- It is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial 

reorganisation; or 

- The disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties. 

 

Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2018 
 

The Group assesses at each period-end whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or 

a group of financial assets is impaired. Objective evidence that financial assets (including equity 

securities) are impaired can include significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer, default 

or delinquency by a borrower, restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the 

Group would not otherwise consider, indications that a borrower or issuer will enter bankruptcy, 

the disappearance of an active market for a security, or other observable data relating to a group of 

assets such as adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers or issuers in the group, or 

economic conditions that correlate with defaults in the group.  In addition, for an investment in an 

equity security, a significant or prolonged decline in its fair value below its cost is objective 

evidence of impairment. In general, the Group’s considers a decline of 30% to be significant and a 

period of nine months to be prolonged. However, in specific circumstances a smaller decline or a 

shorter period may be appropriate. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

3.2 Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (continued) 

 

3.2.7 Impairment (continued) 

 

Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2018 (continued) 

 

The Group considers evidence of impairment for loans and advances at both a specific asset and 

collective level. All individually significant loans and advances are assessed for specific 

impairment.  All individually significant loans and advances found not to be specifically impaired 

are then collectively assessed for any impairment that has been incurred but not yet identified. 

Loans and advances that are not individually significant are collectively assessed for impairment 

by grouping together loans and advances (carried at amortised cost) with similar credit risk 

characteristics. 
 

Impairment losses on financial assets carried at amortised cost are measured as the difference 

between the carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the 

asset’s original effective interest rate.  Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss and 

reflected in an allowance account against such financial assets. When a subsequent event causes 

the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed through 

profit or loss. 
 

Impairment losses on available-for-sale investment securities are recognised by transferring the 

cumulative loss that has been recognised in other comprehensive income to profit or loss as a 

reclassification adjustment. The cumulative loss that is reclassified from other comprehensive 

income to profit or loss is the difference between the acquisition cost, net of any principal 

repayment and amortisation, and the current fair value, less any impairment loss previously 

recognised in profit or loss.  Any subsequent recovery in the fair value of an impaired available-

for-sale equity security is recognised in other comprehensive income. 

 

Impairment losses on an unquoted equity instrument that is carried at cost because its fair value 

cannot be reliably measured, is measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the 

financial asset and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market 

rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment losses shall not be reversed. 

 

Impairment of Ijarah and Estisnaa 

 

Ijarah and Estisnaa are shown net of impairment provisions. The Ijarah and Estisnaa recoverable 

amounts are estimated based on the present value of future cash flows discounted using the original 

profit rate of the instrument. When a receivable is deemed uncollectible, it is written off against the 

related allowance for impairment. Such receivables are written off after all the necessary procedures 

have been completed and the amount of the loss has been determined. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

3.2 Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (continued) 

 

3.2.7 Impairment (continued) 

 

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position 
 

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 
 

Loss allowances for ECL are presented in the statement of financial position as follows: 

- financial assets measured at amortized cost: as a deduction from the gross carrying amount 

of the assets; 

- loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts: generally, as a provision; and 

- debt instruments measured at FVOCI: no loss allowance is recognized in the statement of 

financial position because the carrying amount of these assets is their fair value. However, 

the loss allowance is disclosed and is recognized in the fair value reserve. 

3.2.8 Write-off 

 

Loans and debt securities shall be written off (either partially or in full) when there is no realistic 

prospect of recovery. Recoveries of amounts previously written off are included in ‘net impairment 

charge’ in the statement of profit or loss. However, financial assets that are written off could still 

be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Group’s procedures for recovery 

of amounts due. 
 

 

3.3 Provision for staff end of service benefits 
 

Pension contributions are made in respect of UAE national employees to the UAE General Pension 

and Social Security Authority in accordance with the UAE Federal Law No. 7, 1999 for Pension 

and Social Security. The provision for staff end of service benefits, a defined benefit scheme, is 

calculated as per the approved Group staff regulations is usually higher than the estimated provision 

based on actuarial techniques in accordance with IAS 19. 
 

A provision is made for the estimated liability for employees’ entitlements to annual leave and 

leave passage as a result of services rendered by the employees up to the date of the statement of 

financial position. Provision is also made for the end of service benefits due to employees in 

accordance with the UAE Labour Law and the Group’s policy and internal regulations for their 

periods of service up to the date of the statement of financial position. 

 

An actuarial valuation has not been performed on employees’ end of service benefits as the net 

impact of the discount rate and future salary and benefit levels on the present value of the benefits 

obligation are not likely to be significant. 
 

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result 

of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 

required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. 
 

3.4 Cash and cash equivalents 

 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, balances with the UAE Central Bank, money 

in call accounts, placements and due from banks with original maturities of less than three 

months.  
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

3.5 Due from banks 

 

Due from banks are financial assets which are mainly money market placements with fixed or 

determinable payments and fixed maturities that are not quoted in an active market. Money market 

placements are not entered into with the intention of immediate or short-term resale. Due from 

banks are initially measured at cost, being the fair value of the consideration given. Following the 

initial recognition, due from banks are stated at amortised cost. 

 

3.6 Investment securities 

 

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 

 

The ‘investment securities’ include: 
 

- Debt investment securities measured at amortised cost; these are initially measured at fair 

value plus incremental direct transaction costs, and subsequently at their amortised cost using 

the effective interest method; 

- Debt and equity investment securities mandatorily measured at FVTPL or designated as at 

FVTPL; these are measured at fair value with fair value changes recognised immediately in 

consolidated income statement; 

- Debt securities measured at FVOCI; and 

- Equity investment securities designated at FVOCI. 

 For debt securities measured at FVOCI, gains and losses are recognised in OCI, except for the 

following, which are recognised in the consolidated income statement in the same manner as 

for financial assets measured at amortised cost: 

 

- Interest revenue using the effective interest method; 

- Expected Credit Loss (ECL) and reversals; and 

- Foreign exchange gains and losses. 

When a debt security measured at FVOCI is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously 

recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity to consolidated income statement. 

 

The Group elects to present in OCI changes in the fair value of certain investments in equity. The 

election is made on an instrument by instrument basis on initial recognition and is irrevocable. 

Gains and losses on such equity instruments are never reclassified to consolidated income statement 

and no impairment is recognised in consolidated income statement. Dividends are recognised in 

consolidated income statement, unless they clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the 

investment, in which case they are recognised in OCI. Cumulative gains and losses recognised in 

OCI are transferred to retained earnings on disposal of an investment. 

 

From 1 January 2018, any cumulative gain/loss recognised in OCI in respect of equity investment 

securities designated as at FVOCI is not recognised in the consolidated income statement on 

derecognition of such securities. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

3.6 Investment securities (continued) 

 

Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2018 

 

Subsequent to initial recognition investment securities are accounted for depending on their 

classification as either 'fair value through profit or loss', ‘held to maturity’, or ‘available-for-sale’. 

 

Available-for-Sale Investments 

 

Available-for-sale investments are non-derivative investments that are designated as available-for-

sale or are not classified as another category of financial asset. Unquoted equity securities whose fair 

value cannot be reliably measured are carried at cost less impairment, and all other available-for-sale 

investments are carried at fair value. 

 

Interest income is recognised in the consolidated income statement using the effective interest rate 

method. Foreign exchange gains or losses on available-for-sale debt securities are recognised in the 

consolidated income statement. 

 

Other fair value changes are recognised in other comprehensive income until the investment is sold 

or impaired, whereupon the cumulative gains and losses previously recognised in other 

comprehensive income are reclassified to the consolidated income statement as a reclassification 

adjustment. 

 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for trading. A 

financial asset is classified in this category if acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of 

selling or repurchasing it in the near term or if it is a part of a portfolio of identified financial 

instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of 

short-term profit taking. 

 

3.7 Investment properties 

 
Investment properties principally comprise of commercial lands and buildings held by the Group 

for long term rental yields or for capital appreciation or both. Such properties are measured initially 

at cost including all transaction costs, and are subsequently carried at fair value, representing the 

open market prices, adjusted if necessary, for any difference in the nature, location or condition of 

the specific asset. Changes in fair values are recorded in the statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income. When the use of a property changes such that it is reclassified as a trading 

property, its fair value as at the date of reclassification becomes its cost for subsequent accounting. 

 

Fair values are based on market values, being the estimated amount for which the property could be 

exchanged on the date of the valuation between a willing buyer and willing seller in an arm’s length 

transaction after proper marketing wherein the parties had each acted knowledgably, prudently and 

without compulsion. 

 

Investment properties is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment properties is 

permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. 

The gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of investment properties, calculated as 

the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount are included in the 

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

3.7 Investment properties (continued) 

  

Investment properties under development 

 

Investment properties under development is carried at fair value. 

 

Sale of investment properties 

 

Any gain or loss on disposal of investment property (calculated as the difference between the net 

proceeds from disposal and the carrying amount of the item) is recognised in profit or loss. 

 

3.8 Foreign currency transactions 

 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective functional currency of the Group 

at the spot exchange rates at the date of the transactions 

 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated 

into the functional currency at the spot exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss 

on monetary items is the difference between the amortised cost in the functional currency at the 

beginning of the year, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the year, and the amortised 

cost in the foreign currency translated at the spot exchange rate at the end of the year. 

 

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated 

into the functional currency at the spot exchange rate at the date on which the fair value is determined. 

Non-monetary items that are measured based on historical cost in a foreign currency are translated 

using the spot exchange rate at the date of the transaction. 

 

Foreign currency differences arising on translation are generally recognised in profit or loss. However, 

foreign currency differences arising from the translation of available-for-sale equity instruments (prior 

to 1 January 2018) or equity investments in respect of which an election has been made to present 

subsequent changes in fair value in OCI (from 1 January 2018). 

 

3.9 Provisions 

 

A provision is recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a 

past event that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will 

be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash 

flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 

specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

3.10 Property, equipment and depreciation 
 

Property and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if 

any. Depreciation is computed on straight-line basis so as to write down the cost of assets over its 

useful life. Lands granted from the Federal Government (shareholder) are not depreciated and are 

measured at nominal amount of AED 1. 

 

Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalized as part 

of that equipment. If significant parts of an item of property or equipment have different useful lives 

then they are accounted for as separate items (major components) of property and equipment. Any 

gain or loss on disposal of an item of property and equipment is recognized within other income in 

profit or loss.  

 

Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only when it is probable that the future economic benefits of 

the expenditure will flow to the Group. Ongoing repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred. 

  

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property and equipment less their estimated 

residual values using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives and is generally 

recognized in profit or loss. Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their 

useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the 

lease term.  

 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and 

adjusted if appropriate. 

 

The Group has during 2018 reviewed the useful life estimates for all major asset categories and 

revised these to align them with reassessed expected useful lives. 

 

 

Asset Class 

Estimated useful life as at 

31 Dec 2017 

Reassessed estimated  

useful life 31 Dec 2018  

Buildings 20 years 40 years 

Furniture, fixtures and vehicles  3 years 5 years 

Computers 3 to 5 years 3 to 5 years 

 

Had the old estimated of useful life been applied, the depreciation charge for year 2018 would have 

been higher by 2.1 million. 

  

3.11 Impairment of non-financial assets 

 

At the end of each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its assets in order to 

assess whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any 

such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the 

extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount 

of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit 

to which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be 

identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise 

they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and 

consistent allocation basis can be identified. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

3.11 Impairment of non-financial assets (continued) 

 

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. 

 

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its 

carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its 

recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the 

relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a 

revaluation decrease. 

 
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash- 

generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the 

increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined 

had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal 

of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried 

at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation 

increase. 

 

3.12 Deposits and funds from governmental institutions 

 

Deposits and funds of the Sheikh Zayed Housing Program, Mohammad Bin Rashid Innovation 

Fund and the Ministry of Finance vested with and managed by the Group are accounted for 

within the assets and liabilities of the Group (note 13). 

 

3.13 Proceeds from sale of investment properties 

 

Proceeds from sale of apartment units of the investment properties are recognised as a liability until 

the delivery of the unit and transfer of risks and rewards to the customer. 
 

3.14 Dividend distribution 
 

Dividend distribution to the Bank’s shareholder is recognised as a liability in the Bank’s 

financial statement in the period in which the dividends are approved by the shareholders. 
 

3.15 Interest income and expense recognition 
 

Interest income from loans, interest expense and profit on Murabaha, Ijarah and Estisnaa 

contracts are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income using 

effective interest method. The ‘effective interest rate’ is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated 

future cash payments and receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability 

(or, where appropriate, a shorter period) to the carrying amount of the financial asset or financial 

liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Group estimates future cash flows 

considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument, but not future credit losses. 

 

The calculation of effective interest rate includes transaction costs and fees and points paid or 

received that are integral part of the effective interest rate. Transaction costs include incremental 

costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issuance of a financial asset or financial 

liability. 

 

Interest on impaired financial assets is calculated by applying the original effective interest rate of 

the financial asset to the carrying amount as reduced by any allowance for impairment and is not 

recognised as interest income (i.e. recorded as suspended interest). 



Emirates Development Bank 
 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
 

 

32 

 

3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

3.16 Financial guarantees and loan commitments 
 

‘Financial guarantees’ are contracts that require the Group to make specified payments to reimburse 

the holder for a loss that it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when it is due in 

accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. ‘Loan commitments’ are firm commitments to provide 

credit under pre-specified terms and conditions.  

 

Liabilities arising from financial guarantees or commitments to provide a loan at a below-market 

interest rate are initially measured at fair value and the initial fair value is amortised over the life of 

the guarantee or the commitment. The liability is subsequently carried at the higher of this amortised 

amount and the present value of any expected payment to settle the liability when a payment under the 

contract has become probable. Financial guarantees and commitments to provide a loan at a below-

market interest rate are included within other liabilities. 

 

3.17 Impact of adopting IFRS 9 

 

The following assessments have been made on the basis of the facts and circumstances that exist at 

the date of initial application: 

- The business model within which a financial asset is held. 

- The designation and revocation of previous designations of certain financial assets and 

financial liabilities as measured at FVTPL. 

- The designation of certain investments in equity instruments not held for trading as at 

FVOCI. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

 

3.17 Impact of adopting IFRS 9 (continued) 
 

 

The following table summarizes the impact of transition to IFRS 9 on the opening balance of 

reserves and retained earnings: 

 

 Amount 

 AED’000 

Fair value reserves  

Increase due to financial instruments reclassified from fair value through 

profit or loss (FVTPL under IAS 39) to fair value through other 

comprehensive income (FVOCI under IFRS 9) 

 

Unquoted local equity shares 1,050 

Change due to financial instruments reclassified from available for sale 

(under IAS 39) to fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL under IFRS 9) 
 

Debt instruments 423 

 ___________ 

Impact on fair value reserves as at 1 January 2018 1,473 

 ============= 

Retained earnings  

Decrease due to financial instruments reclassified from fair value through 

profit or loss (FVTPL under IAS 39) to fair value through other 

comprehensive income (FVOCI under IFRS 9) 

 

Unquoted local equity shares (1,050) 

Change due to financial instruments reclassified from available for sale 

(under IAS 39) to fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL under IFRS 9) 
 

Debt instruments (423) 

 ___________ 

Impact on retained earnings as at 1 January 2018 (1,473) 

 ============= 

 

  



Emirates Development Bank 
 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
 

 

34 

 

3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

 

3.17 Impact of adopting IFRS 9 (continued) 
 

 

Classification and measurement of financial instruments 

 

The following table and the accompanying notes below explain the original measurement categories 

under IAS 39 and the new measurement categories under IFRS 9 for each class of the group of 

financial assets as at 1 January 2018. 
 

 Original 

classification 

under  

IAS 39 

New 

classification 

 under  

IFRS 9 

Original 

carrying 

value under 

IAS 39 

New 

carrying 

value under 

IFRS 9 

 
AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 

Financial assets     

Quoted local equity shares 
Available-

for-sale 
FVOCI 176,230 176,230 

Unquoted local equity shares 
Available-

for-sale 
FVOCI 25,400 25,400 

Unquoted local equity shares FVTPL FVOCI 180,413 180,413 

Debt instruments 
Available-

for-sale 
FVTPL 187,587 187,587 

Cash and balances with the 

UAE Central Bank 

Amortised 

cost 

Amortised 

cost 
238,188 238,188 

Due from banks and financial 

institutions 

Amortised 

cost 

Amortised 

cost 
3,653,455 3,652,668 

Loans and advances 
Amortised 

cost 

Amortised 

cost 
578,683 579,470 

Murabaha, Ijarah and Estisnaa 

contracts 

Amortised 

cost 

Amortised 

cost 
83,476 83,476 

   _________ _________ 

Total financial assets   5,123,432 5,123,432 

   ========== ========== 

Deposits and funds from 

governmental institutions 

Amortised 

cost 

Amortised 

cost 
2,374,794 2,374,794 

Provision for employees' end 

of service benefits 

Amortised 

cost 

Amortised 

cost 
1,244 1,244 

   _________ ________ 

Total financial liabilities   2,376,038 2,376,038 

   ========== ========== 

 
The Group has taken the advantage of the exemption allowing it not to restate comparative 

information for prior periods with respect to classification and measurement (including 

impairment) changes. Differences in the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial 

liabilities resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 have been recognised in retained earnings and 

reserves as at 1 January 2018. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

3.18 Standards issued but not yet effective 

 

A number of standards and amendments to standards are issued but not yet effective and the Group 

has not adopted these in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements. The below 

standards may have a significant impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements, however, 

the Group is currently evaluating the impact of these new standards. The Group will adopt these new 

standards on the respective effective dates. 

 

IFRS 16 Leases 

 

The Group is required to adopt IFRS 16 Leases on its mandatory adoption date of 1 January 2019. 

The new standard will result in almost all leases being recognised on the balance sheet by lessees, as 

the distinction between operating and finance leases is removed. Under the new standard, an asset 

(the right to use the leased item) and a financial liability to pay rentals are recognised. The only 

exceptions are short-term and low-value leases. 

 

The Group intends to apply the simplified transition approach and does not expect to restate 

comparative amounts for the year prior to first adoption. Right-of-use assets will be measured on 

transition as if the new rules had always been applied. 

 

Further, the Group has used the following practical expedients on initial application: 

 

- used the Group’s previous assessment of which existing contracts are, or contain, lease; 

- where the unexpired lease term on initial application date is less than 12 months or leases are 

of low value items, then the Group has elected to use the short-term lease exemption; and 

- exclude initial direct costs from the measurement of right-of-use asset at the date of initial 

application. 

The Group has assessed the impact of IFRS 16 and based on this assessment no material impact on 

the consolidated financial statements of the Group is expected. 

 

Other standards 

 

The following amended standards are not expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s 

consolidated financial statements: 

 

- Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2015–2017 Cycle – various standards; 

- Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures (Amendments to IAS 28); 

- Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement (Amendments to IAS 19); 

- IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments; 

- Amendments to References to Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards; and 

- IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts. 

- Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation (Amendments to IFRS 9) 
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4 Risk management 
 

4.1 Introduction and overview 
 

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and those activities involve the 

analysis, evaluation, acceptance and management of some degree of risk or combination of 

risks. Taking risk is core to the financial business, and the operational risks are an inevitable 

consequence of being in business. The Group’s aim is therefore to achieve an appropriate 

balance between risk and return and minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial 

performance. Below are the type of risks the Group is exposed to: 
 

 credit risk 

 liquidity risk 

 market risk 

 operational risk 

 

The Group has management committees to oversee the risk management process. The Board Risk 

& Credit Committee, under delegation from the Board of Directors defines policies, processes, and 

systems to manage and monitor credit, market and operational risks. The Group also has a Credit 

Risk function, which independently reviews adherence to all risk management policies and 

procedures. The Group’s internal audit function, which is part of risk framework, primarily 

evaluates the effectiveness of the controls addressing operational risk.  

 

The Group’s risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse these risks, to set 

appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits by means of 

reliable and up-to-date information systems. The Group’s management regularly reviews the risk 

management policies and systems to reflect changes in markets, products and emerging best 

practice. 

 

4.2 Credit risk 
 

‘Credit risk’ is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial 

instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Bank’s loans and 

advances to customers and other banks, and investment securities. 
 

Credit risk also arises through the downgrading of counter parties, whose credit instruments are held 

by the Group, thereby resulting in the value of the assets to fall. As credit risk is the Group’s most 

important risk, considerable resources, expertise and controls are devoted to managing this risk 

within the Group. 
 

Management is responsible for the formulation of credit policies and processes in line with growth, 

risk management and strategic objectives. 
 

The credit policy provides the development of a systematic and consistent approach to identifying 

and managing borrower and counter party risks. 
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4 Risk management (continued) 
 

4.2 Credit risk (continued) 

 

The credit risk function in addition to the credit team are responsible for the recognition and 

management of credit risk both at transaction and portfolio levels and to ensure that risk procedures 

are adhered to in a manner consistent with the Group’s credit policy. The Group manages limits and 

controls concentration of credit risk wherever they are identified, in particular, to individual 

counterparties and groups, and to industries. 
 

The Group manages credit risk through diversification of investment activities to avoid undue 

concentrations of risks in specific locations or industry segments. The Group also monitors credit 

exposures by limiting transactions with specific counterparties, and continually assesses the 

creditworthiness of counterparties. 

 

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure.  
 

For risk management purposes, credit risk arising on financial assets at fair value through profit or 

loss is managed independently, and reported as a component of market risk exposure. 
 

The Group’s credit risk management framework includes: 
 

 Formulating credit policies in consultation with business units, covering collateral 

requirements, credit assessment, risk grading and reporting, documentary and legal procedures, 

and compliance with regulatory and statutory requirements. 

 Establishing the authorisation structure for the approval and renewal of credit facilities. 

Authorisation limits are allocated to business unit Credit Officers. Larger facilities require 

approval by Credit Manager, the Head of Credit, Credit Committee or the Board of Directors 

as appropriate. 

 Reviewing and assessing all credit exposures in excess of designated limits, prior to facilities 

being committed to customers. Renewals and reviews of facilities are subject to the same review 

process. 

 Limiting concentrations of exposure to counterparties, geographies and industries (for loans 

and advances), and by issuer, credit rating band, market liquidity and country (for investments). 

 Developing and maintaining the Group’s risk grading in order to categorise exposures 

according to the degree of risk of financial loss faced and to focus management on the attendant 

risks. The risk grading system is used in determining where impairment provisions may be 

required against specific credit exposures. The current risk grading system consists of seven 

grades reflecting various degrees of risk of default and the availability of collateral or other 

credit risk mitigation. The responsibility for setting risk grades lies with the final approving 

executive/ committee as appropriate. Risk grades are subject to regular reviews. 

 Reviewing compliance, on an ongoing basis, with agreed exposure limits relating to 

counterparties, industries and countries and reviewing limits in accordance with risk 

management strategy and market trends. 
 

In addition, the Group manages the credit exposure by obtaining collateral where appropriate and 

limiting the duration of exposure.  In certain cases, the Group may also close out transactions or 

assign them to other counterparties to mitigate credit risk. Credit risk in respect of derivative 

financial instruments, if any, is limited to those with positive fair values. 
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4 Risk management (continued) 
 

4.2 Credit risk (continued) 

 

4.2.1 Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements 
 

Collateral risk 

 

The Group obtains collateral and other credit enhancements in ordinary course of business from 

counterparties. Collateral is used to mitigate credit risk, as the secondary source of repayment in 

case the counterparty cannot meet its contractual repayment obligations. Credit policy and 

procedures set out the acceptable types of collateral, as well as a process by which additional 

instruments and/or asset types can be considered for approval. 

 

On an overall basis, during the year there was no material deterioration in the quality of collateral 

held by the Group. In addition, there were no changes in collateral policies of the Group. 

 

As at 31 December 2018, the Group held credit risk mitigants with an estimated value of AED 

98,139 thousand (2017: AED 103,969 thousand) against watch list and credit impaired receivables 

from Loans and advances, Murabaha, Ijarah and Estisnaa contracts and investments in the form of 

real estate collateral, other securities over assets, cash deposits and guarantees. The Group accepts 

sovereign guarantees and guarantees from well reputed local or international banks, well established 

local or multinational large corporate and high net-worth private individuals. Collateral generally is 

not held against placements with banks and other financial institutions, and no such collateral was 

held at 31 December 2018 or 31 December 2017. 

 

The table below stratifies credit exposures from mortgage loans and advances (including Islamic 

facilities) to retail customers by ranges of loan-to-value (LTV) ratio. 

 

LTV ratio 2018 2017 

 AED’000 AED’000 

   

Less than 50% 2,508 - 

51 – 70% 14,722  51,858 

71 – 90%                                                                                     88,811 35,685 

91 – 100% 958,541 337,008 

 ------------------------ ------------------------ 

 1,064,582 424,551 

 =========== =========== 
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4 Risk management (continued) 
 

4.2 Credit risk (continued) 

 

4.2.1 Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements 
 (continued) 

 

Concentration of credit risk  

 

Credit risk exposures relating to the statement of financial position assets are as follows: 

 

 2018 2017 

 AED’000 AED’000 

   

Cash and balances with the UAE Central Bank 40,848 238,188 

Due from banks 3,299,576 3,653,455 

Loans and advances 1,111,652 578,683 

Murabaha, Ijarah and Estisnaa contracts 353,198 83,476 

Investment securities – debt securities 463,262 187,587 

Other assets – interest receivable 27,418 6,226  

 ------------------------ ------------------------ 

 5,295,954 4,747,615 

 =========== =========== 
 

The above table represents a worst case scenario of credit risk exposure to the Group at 31 December 

2018 and 31 December 2017, without taking into account any collateral held or other credit 

enhancements attached. For statement of financial position, the exposures set out above are based 

on net carrying amounts as reported in the statement of financial position. 

 

  



Emirates Development Bank 
 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
 

 

40 

 

4 Risk management (continued) 
 

4.2 Credit risk (continued) 

 

4.2.1 Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements 
 (continued) 

  

Concentration of credit risk (continued) 

 

The Group monitors concentrations of credit risk by sector and by geographic location.  An analysis 

of concentration of credit risk at the reporting date by sectors is shown below. 

 

31 December 2018 Public 

Sector 

Financial 

Sector 

Private / 

retail 

Sector Total 

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 

     

Cash and Balances with UAE Central bank 40,848 - - 40,848 

Due from banks - 3,299,576 - 3,299,576 

Loans and advances 294,634 60,045 756,973 1,111,652 

Murabaha, Ijarah and Estisnaa Contracts - - 353,198 353,198 

Investment securities – debt Instruments - 332,296 130,966 463,262 

Other assets - interest receivable 1,199 16,467 9,752 27,418 

 336,681 3,708,384 1,250,889 5,295,954 

 

 

31 December 2017 Public 

Sector 

Financial 

Sector 

Private / 

retail 

Sector Total 

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 

     

Cash and Balances with UAE Central bank 238,188 - - 238,188 

Due from banks - 3,653,455 - 3,653,455 

Loans and advances 102,806 74,117 401,760 578,683 

Murabaha, Ijarah and Estisnaa Contracts 48,934 - 34,542 83,476 

Investment securities – debt Instruments - 187,587 - 187,587 

Other assets - interest receivable 1,115 3,923 1,188 6,226 

 391,043 3,919,082 437,490 4,747,615 
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4 Risk management (continued) 
 

4.2 Credit risk (continued) 

 

4.2.1 Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements 
 (continued) 

 

Concentration of credit risk (continued) 

 

The Group monitors concentrations of credit risk by sector and by geographic location.  An 

analysis of concentration of credit risk at the reporting date by geographical location is shown 

below. 

 

31 December 2018 UAE GCC 
North 

America 
Others Total 

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 

      

Cash and Balances with UAE 

Central bank 
40,848 - - - 40,848 

Due from banks 3,299,576 - - - 3,299,576 

Loans and advances 1,088,577 23,075 - - 1,111,652 

Murabaha, Ijarah and Estisnaa 

Contracts 
353,198 - - - 353,198 

Investment securities – debt 

Instruments 
463,262 - - - 463,262 

Other assets - interest receivable 27,215 203 - - 27,418 

 5,272,676 23,278 - - 5,295,954 

 

 

31 December 2017 UAE GCC 
North 

America 
Others Total 

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 

      

Cash and Balances with UAE 

Central bank 

238,188 - - - 238,188 

Due from banks 3,653,455 - - - 3,653,455 

Loans and advances 545,473 33,210 - - 578,683 

Murabaha, Ijarah and Estisnaa 

Contracts 

49,558 - 2,148 31,770 83,476 

Investment securities – debt 

Instruments 

187,587 - - - 187,587 

Other assets - interest receivable 5,999 227 - - 6,226 

 4,680,260 33,437 2,148 31,770 4,747,615 
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4 Risk management (continued) 
 

4.2 Credit risk (continued) 

 

4.2.2 Credit Quality 

 

The Group has management committees to oversee the risk management process. The Board Risk 

& Credit Committee, under delegation from the Board of Directors defines policies, processes, and 

systems to manage and monitor credit, market and operational risks.  

 

The Group maintains a risk grading system in order to categorize exposures according to the degree 

of risk of financial loss faced and to focus management on the attendant risks. The risk grading 

system is used in determining where impairment provisions may be required against specific credit 

exposures. The current risk grading system consists of seven grades reflecting various degrees of 

risk of default and the availability of collateral or other credit risk mitigation. The responsibility for 

setting risk grades lies with the final approving executive or committee, as appropriate. Risk grades 

are subject to regular reviews. 
 

Due from Banks 
 

The following table sets out information about money market placements and balances in current 

and call accounts with banks. These are carried at amortised cost. 

 

 2018  2017 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total  Total 

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000  AED’000 

       

Low risk 3,301,198 - - 3,301,198  3,653,455 

Watch list - - - -  - 

Doubtful - - - -  - 

Loss - - - -   - 

 3,301,198 - - 3,301,198  3,653,455 

Less: Loss allowance  (1,622) - - (1,622)  - 

Carrying amount 3,299,576 - - 3,299,576  3,653,455 
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4 Risk management (continued) 
 

4.2 Credit risk (continued) 

 

4.2.2 Credit Quality (continued) 

 

Loans and advances, Murabaha, Ijarah and Istisnaa 

 

The following table sets out information about loans and advances, Murabaha, Ijarah and Istisnaa 

loans/ finances. These are carried at amortised cost. 

 

 2018  2017 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total  Total 

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000  AED’000 

       

Low risk 1,399,696 - - 1,399,696  580,558 

Watch list - 17,969 - 17,969  2,815 

Doubtful - - 140,489 140,489  151,644 

Loss - - 121,483 121,483  117,608 

 1,399,696 17,969 261,972 1,679,637  852,625 

Less: Loss allowance as 

per IFRS 9 (8,690) (1,045) (168,457) (178,192)  - 

Less: Loss allowance 

(overlay) over IFRS 9 / 

IAS 39 (28,829) - (435) (29,264)  (186,866) 

Less: Suspended interest / 

profit - - (7,331) (7,331)  (3,600) 

Carrying amount 1,362,177 16,924 85,749 1,464,850  662,159 

 

Investment securities 

 

The following table sets out information about debt investment securities which are carried at 

amortised cost; 

 

 2018  2017 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total  Total 

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000  AED’000 

       

Low risk 130,984 - - 130,984  - 

Watch list - - - -  - 

Doubtful - - - -  - 

Loss - - - -   - 

 130,984 - - 130,984  - 

Less: Loss Allowance (18) - - (18)  - 

Carrying amount 130,966 - - 130,966  - 
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4 Risk management (continued) 
 

4.2 Credit risk (continued) 
 

4.2.3 Inputs, assumptions and techniques used for estimating impairment 
 

a) Significant increase in credit risk 
 

When determining whether the risk of default on a financial instrument has increased significantly 

since initial recognition, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant 

and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information 

and analysis including internal credit risk grading system, external risk ratings, where available, 

delinquency status of accounts, credit judgement and, where possible, relevant historical experience 

and forward-looking information. The Group may also determine that an exposure has undergone a 

significant increase in credit risk based on particular qualitative indicators that it considers are 

indicative of such and whose effect may not otherwise be fully reflected in its quantitative analysis 

on a timely basis. 
 

The objective of the assessment is to identify whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred 

for an exposure. The Group uses three criteria for determining whether there has been a significant 

increase in credit risk: 
 

- quantitative test based on movement in PD; 

- qualitative indicators; and 

- a backstop of 30 days past due. 

 

b) Credit risk grades 
 

Credit risk grades are defined using qualitative and quantitative factors that are indicative of risk of 

default. These factors vary depending on the nature of the exposure and the type of borrower. 

Exposures are subject to on-going monitoring, which may result in an exposure being moved to a 

different credit risk grade. 
 

c) Generating the term structure of Probability of Default (PD) 
 

The Group employs statistical models to analyze the data collected and generate estimates of PD of 

exposures and how these are expected to change as a result of the passage of time. This analysis 

includes the identification and calibration of relationships between changes in default rates and 

changes in key macro-economic factors, across various geographies in which the Group has 

exposures. 
 

d) Renegotiated financial assets 
 

The contractual terms of a loan may be modified for a number of reasons, including changing market 

conditions, customer retention and other factors not related to a current or potential credit  

deterioration of the customer. An existing loan whose terms have been modified may be derecognised 

and the renegotiated loan recognised as a new loan at fair value. Where possible, the Group seeks to 

restructure loans rather than to take possession of collateral, if available. This may involve extending 

the payment arrangements and documenting the agreement of new loan conditions. Management 

continuously reviews renegotiated loans to ensure that all criteria are met and that future payments 

are likely to occur. 
 

Facilities which are restructured due to credit reasons in past 12 months are classified under Stage 2. 

A borrower would need to demonstrate consistently good payment history over a period of time 

before the exposure is no longer considered to be credit-impaired and the exposure is upgraded to 

Stage 1. 
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4   Risk management (continued) 
 

4.2  Credit risk (continued) 

 

4.2.3 Inputs, assumptions and techniques used for estimating impairment (continued) 
 

e) Definition of default 
 

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when: 
 

- the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by 

the Group to actions such as realizing security (if any is held);  

- it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial 

reorganisation ;or 

- the borrower is past due more than 90 days on any material credit obligation to the Group;  

In assessing whether a borrower is in default, the Group also considers indicators that are: 
 

- quantitative – e.g. overdue status and non-payment on another obligation of the same issuer 

to the Group;  

- qualitative – e.g. borrowers cooperation and the clarity and availability of the information 

requested; and 

- based on data developed internally and obtained from external sources. 

Inputs into the assessment of whether a financial instrument is in default and their significance may 

vary over time to reflect changes in circumstances. The definition of default largely aligns with that 

applied by the Group for regulatory capital purposes. 

 

f) Incorporation of forward-looking information 

 

The Group employs statistical models to incorporate macro-economic factors on historical default 

rates. In case none of the above macro - economic parameters are statistically significant or the 

results of forecasted PDs deviate from the present forecast of the economic conditions, qualitative 

PD overlays are used by management after analyzing the portfolio. 
 

Incorporating forward looking information increases the level of judgement as to how changes in 

these macroeconomic factors will affect the ECL applicable to the stage 1 and stage 2 exposures 

which are considered as performing. The methodologies and assumptions involved, including any 

forecasts of future economic conditions, are reviewed periodically. 
 

The assessment of significant increase in credit risk (SICR) and the calculation of ECL both 

incorporate forward-looking information. The Group uses mathematical function, which links the 

credit cycle index (CCI) with PD as a key input to ECL. These economic variables and their 

associated impact on the PD, EAD and LGD vary by financial instrument. Forecasts of these 

economic variables (the “base economic scenario”) are provided by the Group’s Economics team 

on a quarterly basis and provide the best estimate view of the economy over the next five years. 

After five years, to project the economic variables out for the full remaining lifetime of instrument, 

a mean reversion approach has been used. 
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4   Risk management (continued) 
 

4.3  Credit risk (continued) 

 

4.2.3 Inputs, assumptions and techniques used for estimating impairment (continued) 
 
f) Incorporation of forward-looking information (continued) 

 

Scenarios are incorporated through the forward looking factors selected which are CCI factors that 

are conditioned and then used as an input to the various ECL components. The CCI calculation is 

derived through the construction of suitable credit cycles based on economic variables that can be 

used as proxy to describe credit activities within each country of operation. CCI can be derived 

from a number of historical factors, such as risky yields, credit growth, credit spreads, default or 

NPL rates data. Interdependency exists between macro-economic factors (for UAE: Oil $60 - $69 

price/barrel, GDP 2.6% - 2.9%, Inflation 1.9% - 3.9% etc.) and the CCI, given its integral part in 

driving the economic or business cycles. The weightings assigned to each macro-economic scenario 

based on CCI, as at 31 December 2018, were 80% to Base Case and 10% each to Downside and 

Upside Case. 

 

g) Measurement of ECL 
 

The key inputs into the measurement of ECL are the term structure of the following variables: 
 

- probability of default (PD); 

- loss given default (LGD); 

- exposure at default (EAD). 

These parameters are generally derived from internally developed statistical models and other 

historical data. They are adjusted to reflect forward-looking information as described above. 
 

PD estimates are estimates at a certain date, which are calculated based on statistical rating models. 

These statistical models are primarily based on internally compiled data comprising both quantitative 

and qualitative factors and are supplemented by external credit assessment data where available. 
 

LGD is the magnitude of the likely loss if there is a default. The Group estimates LGD parameters 

based on the history of recovery rates of claims against defaulted counterparties. The LGD models 

consider the forecasted collateral value and recovery costs of any collateral that is integral to the 

financial asset. 
 

LGD estimation includes: 
 

- Cure Rate: Defined as the ratio of accounts, which have fallen to default and have managed 

to move backward to the performing accounts. 

- Recovery Rate: Defined, as the ratio of liquidation value to market value of the underlying 

collateral at the time of default would also account for expected recovery rate from a general 

claim on the borrower’s assets for the unsecured portion of the exposure. 

- Discounting Rate: Defined as the opportunity cost of the recovery value not being realized 

on the day of default adjusted for time value. 

  



Emirates Development Bank 
 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
 

 

47 

 

4 Risk management (continued) 
 

4.2 Credit risk (continued) 

 

4.2.3 Inputs, assumptions and techniques used for estimating impairment (continued) 

 

g) Measurement of ECL (continued) 

 

EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default. The Group derives the EAD from 

the current exposure to the counterparty and potential changes to the current amount allowed under 

the contract including amortisation. The EAD of a financial asset is its gross carrying amount. For 

lending commitments and financial guarantees, the EAD includes the amount drawn, as well as 

potential future amounts that may be drawn under the contract, which are estimated based on 

historical observations and forward-looking forecasts. 
 

Where modelling of a parameter is carried out on a collective basis, the financial instruments are 

grouped on the basis of shared risk characteristics that include: 
 

- credit risk grading's; 

- product type; and 

- geographic location of the borrower. 

The groupings are subject to regular review to ensure that exposures within a particular group 

remain appropriately homogeneous. 

 

ECL for exposures in Stage 1 is calculated by multiplying the 12-month PD by LGD and EAD. 

Lifetime ECL is calculated by multiplying the lifetime PD by LGD and EAD. 
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4 Risk management (continued) 
 

4.2 Credit risk (continued) 
 

4.2.4 Loss allowance 
 

The following tables show reconciliations from the opening to the closing balance of the loss 

allowance by class of financial instruments. Comparative amounts represent allowance account for 

credit losses and reflect measurement basis under IAS 39. 
 

Due from banks 
  

 ECL provision 2018  Impairment provision 2017 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total ECL  Collective Specific Total 

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000  AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 
         

Balance as at 1 January - - - -  - - - 

Impact of initial 

application of IFRS 9 788 -  788  - - - 

Loss allowance as per 

IFRS 9 as at 1 January 788 - - 788  - - - 

Net remeasurement of 

loss allowance - - - -  - - - 

New financial assets 

originated - net 1,622 - - 1,622  - - - 

Derecognition of 

financial assets (788) - - (788)  - - - 
       - - - 

Balance as at 31 

December 1,622   1,622  - - - 
 

Loans, Murabaha, Ijarah and Istisnaa 
 

 ECL provision 2018  Impairment provision 2017 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total ECL  Collective Specific Total 

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000  AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 
         

Balance as at 1 January 25,320 - 161,546 186,866  17,999 145,163 163,162 

(Excess) / shortfall in 

loss allowance over 

ECL at 1 January  (23,153) 298 (6,268) (29,123)  - - - 

Loss allowance as per 

IFRS 9 as at 1 January 2,167 

 

298 155,278 157,743  - - - 

Transfers to Stage 1 398 (41) (357) -  - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 (76) 176 (100) -  - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 (15) (164) 179 -  - - - 

Net remeasurement of 

loss allowance 1,117 549 13,336 15,002  7,321 16,383 23,704 

New financial assets 

originated - net 5,147 227 155 5,529  - - - 

Derecognition of 

financial assets (48) - (34) (82)  - - - 
      - - - 

Loss allowance as per 

IFRS 9 as at 31 

December / IAS 39 8,690 1,045 168,457 178,192  - - - 

Excess (overlay) in loss 

allowance over ECL at 

31 December  28,829 - 435 29,264  - - - 

Balance as at 31 

December 37,519 1,045 168,892 207,456  25,320 161,546 186,866 
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4 Risk management (continued) 
 

4.2 Credit risk (continued) 
 

4.2.4 Loss allowance (continued) 

 

Investment securities (Debt) 

 
 ECL provision 2018  Impairment provision 2017 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total ECL  Collective Specific Total 

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000  AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 

         

Balance as at 1 January - - - -  - - - 

Impact of initial 

application of IFRS 9 - - - -  - - - 

Loss allowance as per 

IFRS 9 as at 1 

January - - - -  - - - 

Net remeasurement of 

loss allowance - - - -  - - - 

New financial assets 

originated - net 18 - - 18  - - - 

Derecognition of 

financial assets - - - -  - - - 

          

Balance as at 31 

December 18 - - 18  - - - 

 

The management has decided to maintain impairment provision equivalent to the higher of ECL 

or collective provision requirements as per UAE Central Bank guidelines equivalent to 1.5% of 

the risk weighted assets.  
 
 

4.2.5 Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk  

 

Concentration Risk 

 

Concentrations arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, or 

activities in the same geographic region, or have similar economic features that would cause their 

ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or 

other conditions. Concentrations indicate the relative sensitivity of the Group’s performance to 

developments affecting a particular industry or geographical location. 

 
In order to avoid excessive concentrations of risk, the Group’s policies and procedures 

include specific guidelines to focus on maintaining a diversified portfolio. Identified concentration 

of credit risk is controlled and managed accordingly. 
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4   Risk management (continued) 
 

4.3 Market risk 
 

The Group takes on exposure to market risks, which is the risk that the fair value or future cash 

flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risks 

arise from open positions in interest rate, currency and equity instruments, all of which are 

exposed to general and specific market movements and changes in the level of volatility of 

market rates or prices such as interest rates, credit spreads, foreign exchange rates and equity 

prices. Management of the Group meet on a regular basis to monitor and manage market risks. 
 

Price risk 

The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk because of investments held by the Group 

and classified on the statement of financial position at fair value through other comprehensive 

income. To manage its price risk arising from investments in equity securities, the Group 

diversifies its portfolio. Diversification of the portfolio is done in accordance with the limits set by 

the management. 

 

The table below summarizes the impact of a 10% increase / decrease of the prices of this portfolio, 

on the Group’s results and equity for the year ended 31 December 2018 and 2017. The analysis is 

based on the assumptions that all other variables will remain constant and where applicable, the 

Group’s investments moved according to the historical correlation of the relevant index. 
 

  Impact on results and equity of the Group 

 2018 2017 

 AED’000 AED’000 

± 10 % change in equity prices:       

Other comprehensive income ± 32,693 ± 20,163  

  =========== =========== 

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk 
 

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will 

fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the 

value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The 

Group’s management monitors interest rates on a regular basis. 
 

Interest sensitivity of assets and liabilities 
 

The Group is exposed to various risks associated with the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing 

levels of market interest rates on its financial position and cash flows. Interest rate risk is assessed 

by measuring the impact of reasonable possible change in interest rate movements. 
 

Interest rate risk arises from interest bearing financial instruments and reflects the possibility 

that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the value of the financial instruments and the 

related income. The Group manages this risk principally thorough monitoring interest rate gaps 

and by matching the re-pricing profile of assets and liabilities with this regard. 
 

A portion of the Group’s assets and liabilities are re-priced within three months. Accordingly, 

there is a limited exposure to interest rate risk in this regard. 
 

The effective interest rate of a monetary financial instrument is the rate that, when applied in a 

present value calculation of future contractual cash flows, results in the carrying amount of the 

instrument. The rate is an original effective interest rate for a fixed rate instrument carried at 

amortised cost and a current market rate for a floating instrument or an instrument carried at 

fair value.  
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4 Risk management (continued) 
 

4.3 Market risk (continued) 
 

The following table sets out the Group’s assets and liabilities at carrying amounts, categorized 

by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity dates. 
 

 Up to  Non-interest  

At 31 December 2018 3 months 3 - 12 months sensitive Total 

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 

Assets 

Cash and balances with             

   the UAE Central Bank - - 40,848 40,848 

Due from banks 1,830,000 1,348,378 121,198 3,299,576 

Loans and advances - 1,111,652  -  1,111,652  

Murabaha, Ijarah and Estisnaa contracts - 353,198  - 353,198 

Investment securities - 463,262 326,925 790,187 

 ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- 

Total 1,830,000 3,276,490  488,971  5,595,461 

 ========== ========== ========== ========== 

Liabilities  
Deposits and funds from 

   Governmental institutions 647,858 1,200,000 - 1,847,858 

Other liabilities - - 185,742  185,742  

 ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- 

Total 647,858 1,200,000 185,742  2,033,600   

 ========== ========== ========== ========== 

Net gap  1,182,142 2,076,490  303,229    3,561,861  

 ========== ========== ========== ========== 

 

 

 Up to  Non-interest  

At 31 December 2017 3 months 3 - 12 months sensitive Total 

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 

Assets 

Cash and balances with             

   the UAE Central Bank - - 238,188 238,188 

Due from banks 2,520,000 1,010,000 123,455 3,653,455 

Loans and advances - 571,147 7,536   578,683  

Murabaha, Ijarah and Estisnaa contracts - 83,476  - 83,476 

Investment securities - 187,587 382,043  569,630 

 ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- 

Total 2,520,000 1,852,210  751,222  5,123,432 

 ========== ========== ========== ========== 

Liabilities  

Deposits and funds from 

   Governmental institutions 2,374,794 - - 2,374,794 

Other liabilities - - 70,052  70,052  

 ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- 

Total 2,374,794 - 70,052  2,444,846   

 ========== ========== ========== ========== 

Net gap  145,206 1,852,210  681,170    2,678,586  

 ========== ========== ========== ========== 
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4 Risk management (continued) 
 

4.3 Market risk (continued) 

 

Interest rate risk is assessed by measuring the impact of reasonable possible change in interest 

rate movements. The Group assumes a fluctuation in EIBOR rates of 25 basis points (bps) and 

estimates the following impact on the net profit for the year and net assets at that date, with all 

other variables held constant: 

 

 2018 2017 

 AED’000 AED’000 

Effect of a +/- 25 bps change in EIBOR 

Gain or (loss)  +/-   6,736 +/-   3,197                       

=========== =========== 

 

The interest rate sensitivities set out above employ simplified scenarios. They are based on 

AED 4,542 million (2017: AED 4,185 million) interest bearing assets and AED 1,848 million 

(2017: AED 2,375 million) interest bearing liabilities. The sensitivity does not incorporate actions 

that could be taken by management to mitigate the effect of interest rate movements. 

 

Currency risk 

Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in 

foreign exchange rates and arises from financial instruments denominated in a foreign currency. 

The Group’s functional currency is the UAE Dirham. Positions are closely monitored and 

strategies are used to ensure positions are maintained within established limits. 

 

The Group’s assets are typically funded in the same currency as that of the business transacted 

in order to eliminate foreign exchange exposure. 

 

At 31 December 2018, the Group had net exposures denominated in US Dollars amounting to 

AED 498,177 thousand (2017: AED 235,371 thousand). As AED is pegged against US Dollar, the 

Group’s risk exposure to this currency is limited. 

 

Management of market risks 

Overall authority for market risk is vested in ALCO, which sets up limits for each type of risk in 

aggregate and for portfolios. Management responsible for the development of detailed risk 

management policies (subject to review and approval by ALCO) and for the day-to-day review of 

their implementation. 

 

4.4 Liquidity risk 

 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its payment obligations associated 

with its financial liabilities when they fall due and to replace funds when they are withdrawn. 

The consequence may be the failure to fulfil commitments to lend. The Group’s liquidity risk 

monitoring process is performed by Group’s management. 
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4 Risk management (continued) 
 

4.4 Liquidity risk (continued) 

 

The following table analyses the Group’s assets and liabilities into relevant maturity groupings 

based on the remaining period at the date of the statement of financial position to the contracted 

maturity date: 
 

 Up to Over  Unspecified 

   12 months 12 months maturity Total 

At 31 December 2018 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 

Assets 

Cash and balances with  

   the UAE Central Bank 40,848 - - 40,848 

Due from banks 3,299,576  - - 3,299,576  

Loans and advances  46,578 1,065,074    - 1,111,652  

Murabaha, Ijarah and Estisnaa contracts - 353,198 - 353,198 

Investment securities 332,296 130,966 326,925 790,187 

  

 -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------  

Total 3,719,298  1,549,238  326,925   5,595,461 

 ========= ========= ========= =========  

 

Liabilities  
Deposits and funds from  

   Governmental institutions 1,847,858 - - 1,847,858 

Other liabilities                                   - - 185,742  185,742    

 -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------  

Total 1,847,858 - 185,742  2,033,600    

 ========= ========= ========= =========  

Net liquidity availability 1,871,440   1,549,238  141,183  3,561,861  

 ========= ========= ========= =========  

 

 Up to Over  Unspecified 

   12 months 12 months maturity Total 

At 31 December 2017 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 

Assets 

Cash and balances with  

   the UAE Central Bank 238,188 - - 238,188 

Due from banks 3,653,455  - - 3,653,455  

Loans and advances  39,653 505,820  33,210   578,683  

Murabaha, Ijarah and Estisnaa contracts 15,104 68,372 - 83,476 

Investment securities 5,952 181,635 382,043 569,630 

 -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------  

Total 3,952,352  755,827  415,253   5,123,432 

 ========= ========= ========= =========  

 

Liabilities  

Deposits and funds from  

   Governmental institutions 2,374,794 - - 2,374,794 

Other liabilities                                   - - 70,052  70,052    

 -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------  

Total 2,374,794 - 70,052  2,444,846    

 ========= ========= ========= =========  

Net liquidity availability 1,577,558   755,827   345,201  2,678,586  

 ========= ========= ========= ========= 
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4 Risk management (continued) 
 

4.4 Liquidity risk (continued) 

 

Maturity of assets and liabilities is determined on the basis of the remaining period from the date 

of the statement of financial position to the contractual maturity date. 
 

The matching and controlled mismatching of the maturities and interest rates of assets and liabilities 

is fundamental to the management of the Group. It is unusual for banks ever to be completely 

matched since business transacted is often of uncertain term and of different types. An 

unmatched position potentially enhances profitability, but can also increase the risk of losses. 
 

The maturities of assets and liabilities and the ability to replace, at an acceptable cost, interest- 

bearing liabilities as they mature, are important factors in assessing the liquidity of the Group 

and its exposure to changes in interest rates and exchange rates. 

 

4.5 Operational risks 
 

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes 

associated with the Group’s processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external 

factors other than credit, market and liquidity risks such as those arising from legal and 

regulatory requirements and generally accepted standards of corporate behaviour. Operational 

risks arise from all of the Group’s operations and are faced by all business entities. 
 

The Group’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial 

losses and damage to the Group’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control 

procedures that restrict initiative and creativity. 
 

Management is responsible for the development and implementation of controls to address 

operational risk. This responsibility is supported by the development of overall standards for the 

management of operational risk. 
 

4.6 Capital risk management 
 

The Group’s objectives when managing capital is to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as 

a going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and to maintain an optimal capital 

structure to reduce the cost of capital. The Group is not exposed to capital risk due to the 

availability of surplus funds. 
 

4.7 Fair value hierarchy 

 

All financial assets and liabilities are measured at amortised cost except for financial assets at 

fair value through other comprehensive income and financial assets at fair value through profit 

or loss, which are measured at fair value by reference to published price quotations in an active 

market. 

 

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between 

knowledgeable willing parties in an arm's length transaction. Consequently, differences can arise 

between book values and the fair value estimates. Underlying the definition of fair value is the 

presumption that the Group is a going concern without any intention or requirement to materially 

curtail the scale of its operation or to undertake a transaction on adverse terms. 
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4 Risk management (continued) 
 

4.7 Fair value hierarchy (continued) 

 

The carrying values of financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group approximate their 

fair values. The nominal values less impairment provision of loans, Murabaha and Estisnaa 

contracts approximate their fair values. 

 

The Group has adopted the amendment to IFRS 7 for financial instruments that are measured in 

the statement of financial position at fair value; this requires disclosure of fair value 

measurements by level of the following fair value measurement hierarchy: 
 

Level 1  - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for asset or 

liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices). 

Level 3 - Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, 

unobservable inputs). 

The Group measures the fair values of its quoted financial assets at fair value through other 

comprehensive income and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss using the quoted 

market price (unadjusted) in active market for an identical instrument (level 1). For the unquoted 

and managed funds, the Group measures its fair value based on level 3. No movements or 

reclassification between levels of fair values took place during the year. 
 

The fair values of balance with the UAE Central Bank, due from banks, loans to and deposits from 

governmental authorities and funds of Sheikh Zayed Housing Program, which are predominantly 

short term in tenure and issued at market rates, are considered to reasonably approximate their book 

value. The Group estimates that the fair value of its Ijarah and Estisnaa portfolios not to be materially 

different from its book value since all of these balances carry floating market rates of interest and 

are re-priced on semiannual basis. 
 

The following table presents the Group’s assets fair value hierarchy: 
 

 AED’000 
 ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

At 31 December 2018 
Financial assets at fair value through     

   profit or loss 332,296 - -  332,296 

Financial assets at fair value through 

   other comprehensive income 153,325 - 173,600 326,925 

 Investment properties - - 546,860 546,860 

 

At 31 December 2017 

Available-for-sale financial assets 363,817 - 25,400 389,217 

Financial assets at fair value through     

   profit or loss - - 180,413  180,413 

Investment properties - - 571,720 571,720 
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4 Risk management (continued) 
 

4.7 Fair value hierarchy (continued) 
 

4.7.1 Valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs 

 

The following table shows the valuation techniques used in measuring Level 3 fair values, as well 

as the significant unobservable inputs used. 
 

Financial instruments measured at fair value 
 

Type Valuation technique Significant 

unobservable 

inputs 

Inter-relationship 

between significant 

unobservable inputs 

and fair value 

measurement 
Unquoted  

Equities 

Market comparison 

technique: The 

valuation model is 

based on market 

multiples derived 

from quoted prices of  

companies 

comparable to the 

investee and the 

expected EBITDA 

of the investee. The 

estimate is adjusted 

for the effect of non-

marketability of the 

equity securities. 

EBITDA / 

Forecasted 

EBITDA 

 

Marketability 

discounts 

 

Financial 

multiples 

 

 

The estimated fair  

value would increase 

(decrease) if: 

 the annual revenue growth 

rate were higher (lower); 

 the EBITDA  

margin were higher 

(lower); or 

 the adjusted market 

multiple were  

higher (lower). 

 

Generally, a change in 

the annual revenue  

growth rate is accompanied by a  

directionally similar 

change in EBITDA margin. 

Financial instruments not measured at fair value 

 

Type Valuation technique Significant unobservable  

inputs 

Investment properties Discounted cash flows 

Capitalization of income 

 Site affection plans. 

 Floor plans. 

 

4.7.2     Level 3 fair values 

 

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair values 

 

The following table shows a reconciliation from the opening balances to the closing balances for 

Level 3 fair values: 
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4 Risk management (continued) 
 

4.7       Fair value hierarchy (continued) 

 

4.7.2     Level 3 fair values (continued) 

 

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair values (continued) 

 2018 2017 

 AED’000  AED’000  

Investment properties 

Balance as at 1 January 571,720 591,040 

Disposal during the year - - 

Loss from change in fair value of  

   investment properties (24,860) (19,320) 

  ------------------------ ------------------------ 

Balance as at 31 December 546,860 571,720  

 ============ ============ 

Financial investment at FVOCI 

Balance as at 1 January - - 

Reclassified from available for sale financial 

   assets on adoption of IFRS 9  25,400 - 

Reclassified from financial investments  

   at FVTPL on adoption of IFRS 9 180,413 - 

 ------------------------ ------------------------ 

Restated balance as at 1 January 205,813 - 

Change in fair value (32,213) - 

  ------------------------ ------------------------ 

Balance as at 31 December 173,600 -  

 =========== =========== 

Unquoted equities 

Available-for-sale financial assets 

Balance as at 1 January 25,400 30,175 

Reclassified to financial investment at FVOCI 

   on adoption of IFRS 9  (25,400) - 

 ------------------------ ------------------------ 

Restated balance as at 1 January - 30,175 

Transfer to level 1 - (3,017) 

Loss from change in fair value of available-  

   for-sale of financial assets - (1,758)  

  ------------------------ ------------------------ 

Balance as at 31 December - 25,400   

  =========== =========== 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

Balance as at 1 January 180,413 197,626 

Reclassified to financial investment at FVOCI 

   on adoption of IFRS 9  (180,413) - 

 ------------------------ ------------------------ 

Restated balance as at 1 January - 197,626 

Disposal - (18,253) 

Fair value change - 1,040 
  ------------------------ ------------------------ 

Balance as at 31 December - 180,413   

  =========== =========== 
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5 Critical accounting estimates and judgments  
 

The Group makes estimates and assumptions primarily relating to impairment losses on loans and 

advances as well as impairment losses on Murabaha, Ijarah, and Estisnaa contracts, which affect 

reported amounts of assets and results of operations. Estimates and judgements are continually 

evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future 

events, which although are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, could result in a 

material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets in the next financial period. The significant 

judgments made by the management in arriving at the carrying amounts of loans and investment 

securities and fair values of Islamic financial instruments are summarised as follows: 

 

a) Significant increase in credit risk (applicable from 1 January 2018) 

 

As explained in note 3.2.7, ECL are measured as an allowance equal to 12-month ECL for Stage 1 

assets, or lifetime ECL for Stage 2 or Stage 3 assets. An asset moves to Stage 2 when its credit risk 

has increased significantly since initial recognition. IFRS 9 does not define what constitutes a 

significant increase in credit risk. In assessing whether the credit risk of an asset has significantly 

increased, the Group takes into account qualitative and quantitative reasonable and supportable 

forward-looking information. 

 

b)  Establishing groups of assets with similar credit risk characteristics (applicable from to 1 January 

2018) 

 

When ECLs are measured on a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped on the basis 

of shared risk characteristics. The Group monitors the appropriateness of the credit risk 

characteristics on an ongoing basis to assess whether they continue to be similar. This is required 

in order to ensure that should credit risk characteristics change there is appropriate re-segmentation 

of the assets. This may result in new portfolios being created or assets moving to an existing 

portfolio that better reflects the similar credit risk characteristics of that group of assets. 

 

c) Models and assumptions used (applicable from 1 January 2018)  

 

The Group uses various models and assumptions in measuring fair value of financial assets as well 

as in estimating ECL. Judgment is applied in identifying the most appropriate model for each type 

of asset, as well as for determining the assumptions used in these models, including assumptions 

that relate to key drivers of credit risk. 

 

d) Impairment losses on loans, Murabaha, Ijarah and Estisnaa (applicable prior to 1 January 2018) 

 

The Group reviews its loan portfolios as well as Murabaha, Ijarah and Estisnaa contracts to assess 

impairment at least on a yearly basis. In determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded 

in profit or loss, the Group makes judgments as to whether there is any observable data indicating 

that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of loans 

before the decrease can be attributed to an individual loan in that portfolio. 

 

This evidence may include observable data indicating that there has been an adverse change in the 

payment status of borrowers, or national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults 

on assets. Management uses estimates based on historical loss experience and objective evidence 

of impairment when scheduling its future cash flows. The methodology and assumptions used for 

estimating both the amount and timing of future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any 

differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.  
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5 Critical accounting estimates and judgments (continued) 
 

e) Classification of investments (applicable from 1 January 2018) 

 

The classification and measurement of the financial assets depends on the management’s business 

model for managing its financial assets and on the contractual cash flow characteristics of the 

financial assets assessed. Management is satisfied that the Group’s investment in securities are 

appropriately classified and measured. Financial assets that are measured at amortised cost are those 

assets that are held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect 

contractual cash flows and the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 

solely payments of principal and interest. Financial assets that are measured at FVOCI are 

investments in equity instruments that are not held to benefit from changes in their fair value and 

are not held for trading. The management believes that designating these instruments as at FVOCI 

provides a more meaningful presentation of its medium to long-term interest in its investments than 

holding the investments at fair value through profit and loss.  

 

f) Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets (applicable prior to 1 January 2018) 

 

The Group follows the guidance of International Accounting Standard “Financial Instruments: 

Recognition and Measurement” IAS 39 to determine when an available-for-sale financial asset is 

impaired. This determination requires significant judgment. In making this judgment, the Group 

evaluates, among other factors, the duration and extent to which the fair value of an investment is 

less than its cost; and the financial health of and short-term business outlook for the investee, 

including factors such as industry and sector performance, changes in technology and operational 

and financing cash flow. 

 

g) Impairment of placements (applicable prior to 1 January 2018) 

 

An estimate of the collectible amount and present value of placements is made when collection of 

the full amount is extended, negotiated, or no longer probable due to the credit deterioration of the 

counterparty. For individually significant amounts, this estimation is performed on an individual 

basis by discounting estimated cash flows to its present value and taking into consideration a 

reasonable risk factor on the default of the counterparty. 

 

h) Impairment of property and equipment 

 

The Group assesses impairment of its property and equipment on a continuous basis by comparing 

its fair value based on the latest valuation performed by external valuer. This value will be 

compared to the carrying amount of property and equipment to ascertain any probable impairment. 

Where property and equipment is determined to have a significant decline in fair value that could 

indicate impairment, the Group adjusts the carrying amount of its properties and equipment to its 

recoverable amount / fair value. 
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6 Due from banks 

 

 2018  2017 

 AED’000  AED’000 
    

Placements 3,180,000  3,530,000 

Current and call accounts 121,198  123,455 

Less: allowance for impairment (1,622)  - 

 --------------------------  -------------------------- 

 3,299,576  3,653,455 

 ============  ============ 
 

Placements include deposits received by the Group from governmental institutions amounting to 

AED 1,200 million (2017: AED nil) (Note 13). 
 

7 Loans and advances 
 

 2018  2017 

 AED’000  AED’000 
    

Loans and advances* 476,964  226,628 

Loans to financial institutions** 133,818  148,238 

Housing Loans 711,384  390,010 

 ------------------------  ------------------------ 

Total loans and advances 1,322,166  764,876 

Less: allowance for impairment (203,183)  (182,593) 

Less: interest in suspense (7,331)  (3,600) 

 --------------------------  -------------------------- 

Balance at 31 December 1,111,652  578,683 

 ============  ============ 
 

Loans and advances balance also includes real estate loans worth of AED 295 million (31 December 

2017: 103 million) to a government entity to acquire properties in the United Arab Emirates.  

 

*During the first quarter of 2018, the management decided to recognize on the statement of financial 

position an exposure of AED 7.95 million conditionally waived in case the customer fulfils the terms 

of the contract obligation under a loan settlement agreement. This amount was fully provided for and 

accordingly the provision amount has also been recognised. 

 

**Loans to financial institutions originally represent placements with two financial institutions, which 

are impaired and for which the Group holds no related collateral. These loans have been renegotiated 

during 2014. The provision accumulated on these loans amounted to AED 73.8 million (31 December 

2017: AED 74.1 million). During 2015, the Group reclassified the element related to one of the 

borrower’s contingent convertible instrument into equity portfolio which amounted to AED 17 million 

and was fully provided for. 

 

The total non-performing loans amounted to AED 258 million (31 December 2017: AED 265 

million). The provisions and suspended interest balances held against those loans amounted to AED 

203.2 million and AED 7.3 million, respectively (31 December 2017: AED 182.6 million and AED 

3.6, respectively).  

 

Interests are suspended on loans that become past due over 90 days unless management’s assessment 

that is based on objective evidence or cumulative historical data that indicates otherwise. 
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7 Loans and advances (continued) 

 

Movement in provision for impairment of loans: 

 

 2018  2017 

 AED’000  AED’000 
    

Balance at 1 January 182,593  158,889 

Specific provisions -  16,383 

Collective provision -  7,321 

Loss allowance – Stage 1 & 2 13,244  - 

Loss allowance – Stage 3 7,346  - 

 --------------------------  -------------------------- 

Balance at 31 December 203,183  182,593 

 ============  ============ 

 

By industrial economic sector: 

 

 2018  2017 

 AED’000  AED’000 
    

Financial services 133,818  148,238 

Food and beverages 9,294  671 

Construction material 136,890  110,796 

Education 22,940   - 

Chemical products 500  3,218 

Real estate 1,006,018  492,816 

Other 12,706  9,137 

 ------------------------  ------------------------ 

 1,322,166  764,876 

Less: provisions and interest in suspense (210,514)  (186,193) 
 ------------------------  ------------------------ 

 1,111,652  578,683 

 ============  ============ 

 

8 Murabaha, Ijarah and Estisnaa contracts 
 

 2018  2017 

 AED’000  AED’000 
    

Islamic home finance  353,198  34,541  

Murabaha and Estisnaa contracts - net  4,273  12,889  

Government Ijarah contracts  -  40,319  

 ------------------------  ------------------------ 

 357,471  87,749 

Less: provision for impairment (4,273)  (4,273) 

 ------------------------  ------------------------ 

Net Murabaha, Ijarah and Estisnaa contracts 353,198  83,476 

 ============  ============ 
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8 Murabaha, Ijarah and Estisnaa contracts (continued) 
 

During second quarter of 2018, a Federal Government entity has settled the existing Ijarah and 

Estisnaa contracts and obtained a new financing facility from the Group. The new financing has been 

extended for settlement of the old financial obligations, which was taken for acquisition of properties 

in various countries.  

 

Islamic home finance take the form of Ijara and Estisnaa contracts. These are granted to UAE 

nationals for the purpose of purchasing or construction of their home in line with the UAE vision 

2021. 

 

 2018  2017 

 AED’000  AED’000 
 

   

Gross investment in Ijarah 376,201  85,062 

Less: deferred Ijarah profits (122,462)  (17,039) 

 --------------------------  -------------------------- 

 253,739  68,023 

 ============  ============ 

 

At 31 December, the future minimum Ijarah payments were payable as follows: 

 

 31 December 2018 
  

   Present value of  

 Minimum Ijarah  minimum Ijarah 

 payments  payments 

 AED’000  AED’000 
 

   

Within one year 17,569  8,305 

2 years to 5 years 69,212  35,206 

More than five years 289,420  210,228 

 --------------------------  -------------------------- 

 376,201  253,739 

 ============  ============ 

 

 31 December 2017 
  

   Present value of  

 Minimum Ijarah  minimum Ijarah 

 payments  payments 

 AED’000  AED’000 
 

   

Within one year 11,418  9,286 

2 years to 5 years 41,270  34,257 

More than five years 32,374  24,480 

 --------------------------  -------------------------- 

 85,062  68,023 

 ============  ============ 
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8 Murabaha, Ijarah and Estisnaa contracts (continued) 
 

The total gross non-performing Islamic finance amounted to AED 6 million (31 December 2017: 

AED 6 million). The provision balance held against those finance amounted to AED 4.3 million (31 

December 2017: AED 4.3 million) 
 

Movement in provision for impairment: 2018  2017 

 AED’000  AED’000 
 

   

Balance at 1 January 4,273  4,273 

Charge for the period -  - 

 --------------------------  -------------------------- 

 4,273   4,273  

 ============  ============ 
 

By economic sector: 2018  2017 

 AED’000  AED’000 
    

Real estate 353,198  83,476 

Others 4,273   4,273 

 ------------------------  ------------------------ 

 357,471  87,749 

Less: provisions and interest in suspense (4,273)  (4,273) 

 ------------------------  ------------------------ 

 353,198  83,476 

 ============  ============ 
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9 Investment securities 
 

 2018  2017 

 AED’000  AED’000 
 

   
Available-for-sale financial assets -  389,217 

Financial investments at fair value through    

profit or loss (FVTPL) 332,296  180,413 

Financial investments at fair through other    

comprehensive income (FVOCI) 326,925  - 

Financial Investments – amortised cost 130,966  - 

 -----------------------------  ----------------------------- 

As at 31 December 790,187  569,630 

 ==============  ============== 

 

Movement in available-for-sale financial assets at fair value  

 

 2018  2017 

 AED’000  AED’000 
    

Balance at the beginning of the year 389,217  372,234 

Additions -  10,338 

Change in fair value -  1,076 

Movement of fixed income portfolios -  5,569 

Effect of adopting IFRS 9:    

Reclassified into financial investment at FVOCI (201,630)  - 

Reclassified into financial investment at FVTPL (187,587)  - 

 --------------------------  -------------------------- 

As at 31 December -  389,217 

 ============  ============ 

 

The available-for-sale financial investments are denominated in UAE Dirhams, except for debt 

instruments, which are denominated to US Dollars and comprises of the following: 

 

   2017 

   AED’000 
    
Debt instruments portfolios   187,587 

Quoted local shares   176,230 

Un-quoted local shares   25,400 

   ----------------------------- 

   389,217 

   ============= 
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9 Investment securities (continued) 
 

Movement in financial investments at fair value through profit or loss: 

 

 
2018  2017 

 AED’000  AED’000 
    

Balance at the beginning of the year 180,413  197,626 

Effect of adopting IFRS 9:    

Reclassified to financial investment at FVOCI (180,413)  - 

Reclassified from available-for-sale assets to FVTPL 187,587  - 

Additions / (disposal) 151,300  (18,253) 

Unrealized gain / (loss) on change in fair value (5,514)  1,040 

Realized loss (317)  - 

Amortization of premium (760)  - 

 --------------------------  -------------------------- 

As at 31 December 332,296  180,413 

 ============  ============ 

 

The financial investments at fair value through profit or loss comprises of the following: 
 

 2018  2017 

 AED’000  AED’000 
    
Debt instruments portfolio 183,411  - 

Perpetual Sukuk instruments 148,885  - 

Un-quoted shares -  180,413 

 -------------------------  ----------------------------- 

 332,296  180,413 

 ============  ============= 
 

Movement in financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income 
 

  2018 

  AED’000 
   

Balance at the beginning of the year   - 

Effect of adopting IFRS 9:   

Reclassified from available-for-sale assets  201,630 

Reclassified from financial investment at FVTPL  180,413 

Additions / (Disposal)  (25,700) 

Change in fair value  (42,503) 

Realized gain   13,085 

  -------------------------- 

As at 31 December  326,925 

  ============ 
 

During the course of the year, the management disposed of FVOCI equity investments fair valued at 

AED 26,786 thousands recording a cumulative gain of AED 13,085 thousand on disposal.  
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9 Investment securities (continued) 
  

The financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income are denominated in UAE 

Dirhams and comprises of the following: 
 

   2018 

   AED’000 
    

Quoted local shares   153,325 

Un-quoted local shares   173,600 

   ------------------------- 

   326,925 

   ============ 
 

Movement in financial investments measured at amortised cost: 

 

   2018 

   AED’000 
    

Balance at the beginning of the year    - 

Additions    130,912 

Amortization of discount   72 

Less: Provision for impairment   (18) 

   -------------------------- 

As at 31 December   130,966 

   ============ 
  

Investments measured at amortised cost consist of US Dollar denominated bonds that carry a coupon 

rate of 3.875% p.a. with semi-annual payments and a maturity of 19 March 2023.  
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10    Investment properties 
 

Investment properties comprise of the following: 
 

   Properties   

   under  

 Land Buildings development Total 

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 
     

At 31 December 2016  120,820 368,350 101,870 591,040 

Revaluation gain/(loss) 580 (13,850) (6,050) (19,320) 

 
--------------------------- 

--------------------------- --------------------------- --------------------------

- 

At 31 December 2017  121,400 354,500 95,820 571,720 

     

Revaluation loss (1,140) (20,200) (3,520) (24,860) 

 
--------------------------- --------------------------- --------------------------- 

--------------------------

- 

At 31 December 2018  120,260 334,300 92,300 546,860 

 ============= ============= ============= =========== 
 

The above investment properties are located in various Emirates within the UAE as follows:  
        

 Abu Dhabi Dubai Ajman Total 

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 
     

Land & properties under development 41,000 172,820 3,400 217,220 

Buildings 243,500 111,000 - (354,500) 

 --------------------------- --------------------------- --------------------------- --------------------------- 

At December 2017                                    284,500 283,820 3,400 571,720 

 ============= ============= ============= ============= 
     

 Abu Dhabi Dubai Ajman Total 

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 
     

Land & properties under development 32,260 176,900 3,400 212,560 

Buildings 225,300 109,000 - (334,300) 

 --------------------------- --------------------------- --------------------------- --------------------------- 

At December 2018                                  257,560 285,900 3,400 546,860 

 ============= ============= ============= ============= 
 

Investment properties are stated at fair value, which have been determined based on valuations 

performed by an industry specialist as at 31 December 2018.  
 

The valuation, conforms with the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors Appraisal and Valuation 

Standards (“RICS”) and the relevant statements of the International Valuations Standards, was 

arrived at by using recognised valuation methods comprising the comparable method of valuation, 

the investment valuation method and the residual valuation method. 
 

Valuations reflect, when appropriate, the type of tenants actually in occupation or responsible for 

meeting lease commitments or likely to be in occupation after letting vacant accommodation, the 

allocation of maintenance and insurance responsibilities between the Group and the lessee, and the 

remaining economic life of the property.  
 

During 2016, the Bank obtained title deed on a plot of land for a payment of AED 11.5 million.  
 

Investment properties under development value includes, an amount of AED 43.8 million (2017: 

AED 43.8 million) being costs incurred to date on foundation and earthworks. Based on the latest 
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valuation, a decrease in fair value of AED 16 million (2017: AED nil) has been recognised against 

this project.  

10    Investment properties (continued) 
 

Income from investment properties – net: 

 

 2018 2017 

 AED ‘000 AED ‘000 

   

Rental income 23,489 26,041 

Service charges (6,990) (6,152) 

 --------------------------- --------------------------- 

 16,499 19,889 

 ============= ============= 

   

  

Rental income from investment properties are disclosed as other operating income (Note 22). 

 

11 Other assets 

 
 2018 2017 

 AED ‘000 AED ‘000 

   

Prepayments and other assets 15,190 21,747 

Interest receivable 27,418 6,226 

 --------------------------- --------------------------- 

 42,608 27,973 

 ============= ============= 
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12 Property and equipment 
      

 Land    Furniture   Motor Work-in- 

 & buildings & fixtures Computers vehicles progress Total 

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 

 

Cost  
At 1 January 2017 84,958 11,435 31,611 460 2,365 130,829 

Additions                                                     - 35 235 300 5,009 5,579 

Adjustments                                                 - (5) - - - (5) 

Transfers - - 1,622 - (1,622)  

Reclassification* (3,256) 788 2,468 - - - 

 ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- 

At 31 December 2017 81,702 12,253 35,936 760 5,752 136,403 

Additions                                                     - 16 173 - - 189 

Disposal                                                     - - - - (466) (466) 

Transfers - - 1,990 - (1,990) - 

Write off                                                 - - (4,623) - - (4,623) 

Impairment - - - - (2,029) (2,029) 

 ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- 

At 31 December 2018 81,702 12,269 33,476 760 1,267 129,474 

 ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= 

Accumulated depreciation  
At 1 January 2017 32,558 9,973 18,341 460 -  61,332 

Charge for the year                      6,036 926 4,642 5 - 11,609    

Adjustments (5) - - - - (5) 

 ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- 

At 31 December 2017   38,589 10,899 22,983 465 - 72,936 

Charge for the year     3,335 682 4,414 60 - 8,491 

Write-off     - - (4,623) - - (4,623) 

Adjustments (1,519) (750) 2,269 - - -

 ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- 

At 31 December 2018 40,405 10,831 25,043 525 -  76,804 

 ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= 

Net book value  

At 31 December 2018 41,297  1,438   8,433 235 1,267          52,670 
 ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= 

At 31 December 2017 43,113 1,354 12,953 295 5,752 63,467 

 ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= 
 

The buildings above include plots of lands at a nominal amount of AED 1 as follows: 

The Group’s building in Abu Dhabi is constructed on land granted by the government of Abu Dhabi 

in the year 2000 for no consideration. This land is booked at nominal amount of AED 1. The Group 

carried a valuation by an external valuer on its Abu Dhabi building including the land as of 

31 December 2018. The fair value at that date amounted to AED 37 million (2017: AED 47.5 million). 

The Group’s building in Dubai is constructed on a land granted by the government of Dubai in the 

year 2000 for no consideration. The book value of this land is booked at nominal amount of AED 1. 

The Group carried a valuation by an external valuer on its Dubai building including the land as of 31 

December 2018. The fair value as of that date amounted to AED 54.2 million (2017: AED 47 million). 

Valuations of the Group’s buildings and lands constructed thereon are based on the investment 

valuation method, these would be classified as level 3 under the fair value hierarchy. 

In 2001, the government of Ras Al Khaimah granted the Group a plot of land in Ras Al Khaimah for 

no consideration, subject to constructing a Branch. The book value of this land is booked at nominal 

amount of AED 1. 

Property and equipment included fully depreciated and still in use items with cost amounting to AED 

22.3 million as of 31 December 2018 (2017: AED 22.7 million). 

*During the year, the Group reviewed classification of all fixed assets to reflect more accurate 

presentation and disclosure. Comparative figures have been updated to match disclosure in the current 

period.  
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13 Deposits and funds from governmental institutions 

 
 2018 2017 

 AED ‘000 AED ‘000 

Deposits from governmental institutions   

Sheikh Zayed Housing Program 900,000 - 

Mohammad Bin Rashid Innovation Fund 300,000 - 

Funds from governmental institutions    

Sheikh Zayed Housing Program 647,426 2,324,794 

Mohammad Bin Rashid Innovation Fund 432 50,000 

 --------------------------- --------------------------- 
 1,847,858 2,374,794 

 ============= ============= 

 
Sheikh Zayed Housing Program 

 

Pursuant to the Federal Law No. (10) of 2009 relating to the Sheikh Zayed Housing Program (“the 

Program”) and with its regulations issued by UAE Cabinet Resolution No. (9) of 2011, the Bank and 

the Program signed an agreement for the provision of banking, financial and investment management 

services on 8 March 2015. 

 

This agreement lays out specific services that are to be provided by the Bank to the program, the terms 

and conditions the services are to be provided under, key performance indicators that will be used to 

assess the Bank’s performance, the Bank’s and Program’s rights and responsibilities and details the 

fees that are to be charged by the Bank to the Program in exchange. 

 

The services to be provided include receiving funds pertaining to the Program and providing these 

funds to beneficiaries in the form of housing loans, as per the terms agreed by the Program and 

beneficiary, then administering the loans as per agreement. Additionally the Group is to make 

progress disbursements for housing projects and other financial aid to UAE nationals as well as 

manage the recovery services of the loans.  
 

The Ministry of Finance transfers the funds allocated to the Program to the current account of the 

Group with the UAE Central Bank. The Program earns interest on the funds invested with the Bank 

as per the agreement signed.  

 

The substantial risk and rewards associated with the Program’s funds rest with the Bank. Therefore, 

the funds of the Program under the management of the Bank are disclosed as part of the assets (call 

account and placements) of the Bank. The Program loans, however, do not carry any risk to the Bank 

and therefore are not included in the Bank’s statement of financial position. 

 

Ministry of Finance – Sheikh Mohammed bin Rashid Innovation Fund 

 

The Mohammed Bin Rashid Innovation Fund (“the Fund”) is a government initiative created by the 

United Arab Emirates prime minister, His Highness Sheikh Mohammed bin Rashid Al Maktoum, as 

a fund to finance and foster innovation. The Ministry of Finance (“MoF”) was appointed to be 

responsible for its implementation. EDB was subsequently appointed by the MoF to act as the 

administrative host and operator. Thus, there is a trilateral agreement between the three parties (the 

Fund, MoF, and the Bank).  
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13 Deposits and funds from governmental institutions (continued) 
 

Ministry of Finance – Sheikh Mohammed bin Rashid Innovation Fund (continued) 

 

The scope of the Bank’s responsibilities includes review and comment on the Fund’s policy, 

guidelines, and terms and conditions, host and collaborate the development of the Fund’s operating 

Manual, support in the sourcing and contracting of the Decision and Advisory Committee experts, 

support in the contracting of strategic partners, promoting and marketing the Fund, approve the 

operations team, manage the Fund account, manage the annual report, host and maintain the Fund’s 

website, and oversee the operations team’s performance. 

 

The Fund’s annual expenses budget is to be prepared by the Bank and submitted to the MoF, which 

will in turn pay the Bank on a monthly basis as per the annually agreed expenses budget.  

 

14 Other liabilities 

 
 2018 2017 

 AED ‘000 AED ‘000 
   

Accrual for Directors’ remuneration 1,459 425 

Accrual for staff costs and others 3,418 3,192 

Deferred income from rents 8,662 9,140 

Customer settlement account 7,821 - 

Customer deposits towards reserving residence 133,788 26,241 

Others 30,594 31,054 

 ------------------------ ------------------------ 

 185,742 70,052 

 =========== =========== 

 

15 Share capital 
 

As per the Federal Law No. 7 the authorized share capital is 10 billion shares at AED 1 each with paid 

up capital of AED 5 billion required to be fully paid by the Federal Government. The issued share 

capital at 31 December 2018 comprises of 5,000,000 thousand ordinary shares of AED 1 each (31 

December 2017: 5,000,000 thousand ordinary shares of AED 1 each). The shares are not yet fully 

paid-up. 

 

During the year, an additional capital was injected by the Federal Government amounting to  

AED 850,000 thousand. Further, an amount of AED 501,705 thousand was transferred from retained 

earnings to paid up capital as per the decision of the Board of Directors. 
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16 Reserves 
 

Special reserve 

 

The special reserve is created based on Article 43 of the Bank’s Articles of Association. 10% of the 

Bank’s profit for the year shall be transferred to the special reserve until it reaches 50% of the nominal 

value of the paid up share capital. 

 

Proposed capital injection 

 

Article (27) of Law No. (1) of 1981 relating to the Incorporation of the Real Estate Bank specified 

that the responsibilities and authority of the National Housing Council, which were established by 

virtue of Law No. (6) for the year 1979 and its principle responsibilities relating to granting loans to 

UAE nationals for constructing residential properties, shall be transferred to the Emirates 

Development Bank. Furthermore, the article stated that the responsibilities, authorities and rights of 

the Settlement Committee, which relates to the settlement of real estate loans given to the UAE 

Nationals by commercial banks within the UAE as per the Ministerial Decree No. (2) of 1980 

Concerning Settlement of Real Estate Loans, shall be transferred to the Real Estate Bank. Thus, these 

amounts were recognized as a liability until a resolution from the Bank’s Board on their treatment and 

recognition was passed. During 2017, the liability mentioned above was approved to be recognized as 

paid up capital and there has been a transfer from other liabilities to proposed capital injection 

amounting to AED 10.7 million. This amount has now been added to share capital after ratification of 

the Board decision by the UAE Cabinet.  

 

17 Commitments and contingent liabilities 
 

The commitments as at the date of the report was as follows: 

 

 2018 2017 

 AED ‘000 AED ‘000 

Unwithdrawn credit commitments 306,932 101,833 

 =========== ========== 

Guarantees 14,691 - 

 =========== ========== 

 

17.1 Unwithdrawn credit commitments represents contractual commitments to provide loans and credit 

facilities. Usually these commitments have fixed expiration dates or other conditions for cancellation 

and may require payment of a fee. Due to the possibility of an expiration of these commitments 

without being withdrawn, the total contractual values of these do not necessarily represent future 

financial obligation. 

 

17.2 The Group has issued financial guarantees in favour of other lending banks who have granted loans 

to the customers of Mohammad Bin Rashid Innovation Fund. The Group also have a reciprocal 

arrangement with Ministry of Finance to claim the guarantee amount in case of any default by the 

customer. 

 

17.3 There are no other contingencies and commitments as at the year-end. 
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18 Interest income 

 

 2018 2017 

 AED ‘000 AED ‘000 
   

Bank placements and deposit accounts 96,857 98,266 

UAE Central Bank 1,130 144 

Loans and advances 36,783 21,097 

Fixed income securities  10,514 7,229 

 ---------------------- ---------------------- 

 145,284 126,736 

 ========== =========== 

 

19 Interest expense 

 

 2018 2017 

 AED ‘000 AED ‘000 
   

Deposits and funds from governmental                            

   authorities and Establishments  37,606 35,333 

Call account 1,989 1,471 

 ---------------------- ---------------------- 

 39,595 36,804 

 ========== =========== 

 

20 Investment income 
 

 2018 2017 

 AED ‘000 AED ‘000 
   

(Loss) / gain on disposal of investment securities (317) 1,545 

Dividend income 16,925 18,922 

 ---------------------- ---------------------- 

 16,608 20,467 

 ========== =========== 
 

21 Fees and commission income 
 

 2018 2017 

 AED ‘000 AED ‘000 
   

Fee from Sheikh Zayed Housing Program 9,400 10,000 

Fee from Emirates Moveable Collateral  

    Registry Corporation 
 

1,736 

 

- 

Other 1,165 (116) 

 ---------------------- ---------------------- 

 12,301 9,884 

 ========== =========== 
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22    Other income 
 

 2018 2017 

 AED ‘000 AED ‘000 
   

Rental income on investment properties 23,489 26,041 

Service charges and other rental income (6,990) (6,152) 

Other income 4,519 916 

 ---------------------- ---------------------- 

 21,018 20,805 

 ========== =========== 
 

23 Operating and administrative expenses 
 

 2018 2017 

 AED ‘000 AED ‘000 
   

General and administrative expenses 22,959 15,620 

Depreciation and amortisation 8,491 11,609 

 ---------------------- ---------------------- 

 31,450 27,229 

 ========== =========== 

 

24 Impairment charge 
 

 2018 2017 

 AED ‘000 AED ‘000 

   

Collective impairment provision  - 7,321 

Specific provision  - 16,383 

Impairment allowance  
  

– loans and advances  20,590 - 

– due from banks (Stage 1) 1,622 - 

– investment securities at amortised cost (Stage 1) 18 - 

Write backs and recoveries (9,000) (1,306) 

 ---------------------- ---------------------- 

 13,230 22,398 

 ========== =========== 
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 25 Related party transactions and balances 
 

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control or exercise significant 

influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions. 
 

Related parties comprise key higher management personnel, and their related companies and the 

institutions and authorities of the federal government. In the normal course of business, the Group 

had various transactions with its related parties. Transactions are entered into with related 

parties on terms and conditions approved by the Group’s management. The following summarizes 

transactions and balances with related parties for the year: 
 

a. Loans to governmental establishments amounted to AED 294.6 million (2017: AED 102.8 

million). 

b. Ijarah and Estisnaa contracts amounted to AED nil (2017: AED 48.9 million). 

c. Funds from Sheikh Zayed Housing Program amounted to AED 647.4 million (2017: AED 2.4 

billion), and funds from the Ministry of Finance Innovation Fund amounted to AED 0.4 million 

(2017: AED 50 million) (Note 13). 

d. Deposits from Sheikh Zayed Housing Program amounted to AED 900 million (2017: AED nil 

million), and deposits from the Ministry of Finance Innovation Fund amounted to AED 300 

million (2017: AED nil) (Note 13). 

e. Fee receivable from Sheikh Zayed Housing Program amounted to AED 5.3 million (2017: AED 

12.3 million). 

The Group carries out various transactions in the normal course of business with its shareholder, 

directors and officers and investee companies. These are conducted at terms agreed by the Directors 

and management. 

 

Significant balances and transactions with related parties during the year were as follows: 

 

a) Balances with related parties: 2018 2017 

 AED’000 AED’000 

   

Loans and advances 294,634 102,806 

 =========== =========== 

Ijarah and Estisnaa contracts - 48,935 

Deposits from governmental institutions 1,200,000 - 

Funds from governmental institutions 647,860 2,374,794 

 =========== =========== 

b) Key Management compensation   

   

Key Management compensation 12,356 8,725 

 =========== =========== 

c) Other related parties transactions:   

   

Directors remuneration 1,700 1,700 

 =========== =========== 

Interest income from loans and deposits 6,663 4,958 

 =========== =========== 

Interest expenses to governmental institutions 39,595 36,804 

 =========== =========== 
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26 Cash and cash equivalents 
 

For the purpose of the cash flows statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise: 

 

 2018 2017 

 AED’000 AED’000 
   

Cash and balances with UAE Central Bank 40,848 238,188 

Due from banks 3,299,576 3,653,455 

 ------------------------- ------------------------- 

 3,340,424 3,891,643 

Less: balances with original  maturities over three months (1,348,378) (1,010,000) 

 ------------------------- ------------------------- 

 1,992,046 2,881,643 

 ============ ============ 
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27 Financial Instruments 
 

The fair values and carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position are as follows: 

 

As at 31 December 2018  FVTPL  

 FVOCI - 

equity 

instruments   Amortised cost  

 Total carrying 

amount  

  AED '000   AED '000   AED '000   AED '000  

     
Cash and balances with the UAE Central Bank                            -                        -    40,848 40,848 

Due from banks                                                         -                        -    3,299,576 3,299,576 

Loans and advances                                                           -                        -    1,111,652 1,111,652 

Murabaha, Ijarah and Estisnaa contracts                            -                        -    353,198 353,198 

Investment securities 332,296 326,925 130,966 790,187 

Other assets - interest receivable                            -                        -    27,418 27,418 
 ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- 

Total financial assets 332,296 326,925 4,963,658 5,622,879 

 ============ ============ ============ ============ 
 

    
Deposits from Governmental institutions                                      -                        -    1,200,000 1,200,000 

Funds from Governmental institutions                            -                        -    647,858 647,858 

Other liabilities                                                                   -                        -    185,742 185,742 
 ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- 

Total financial liabilities                            -                        -    2,033,600 2,033,600 

 ============ ============ ============ ============ 
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27 Financial Instruments (continued) 
 

The fair values and carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position are as follows: 

 

As at 31 December 2017  FVTPL  

 Available 

for sale  

 Loans and 

Receivable / 

Amortised cost  

 Total carrying 

amount  

  AED '000   AED '000   AED '000   AED '000  

     
Cash and balances with the UAE Central Bank                            -                             -    238,188 238,188 

Due from banks                                                         -                             -    3,653,455 3,653,455 

Loans and advances                                                           -                             -    578,683 578,683 

Murabaha, Ijarah and Estisnaa contracts                            -                             -    83,476 83,476 

Investment securities 180,413 389,217                          -    569,630 

Other assets - interest receivable                            -                             -    6,226 6,226 
 ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- 

Total financial assets 180,413 389,217 4,560,028 5,129,658 

 ============ ============ ============ ============ 
     

Deposits from Governmental institutions                                      -                             -                             -                              -    

Funds from Governmental institutions                            -                             -    2,374,794 2,374,794 

Other liabilities                                                                   -                             -    70,052 70,052 
 ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- 

Total financial liabilities                            -                             -    2,444,846 2,444,846 

 ============ ============ ============ ============ 
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28 Segment Information 

 
Operating Segments 

 

The Group along with its subsidiary operates within the United Arab Emirates. The operating 

segments consist of the Home Finance, Business Finance, and Investments and Treasury business 

units. 

 

For each business unit, the key management reviews internal management reports on at least a 

quarterly basis. The following business units offer different products and services and are managed 

separately because they require different strategies. 

 

Home Finance 

 

The Group offers affordable financial solutions to UAE nationals that facilitate their purchase, 

construction or expansion of a home. The Group provides a variety of customised finance solutions 

for UAE nationals, including loans complementing the offering of federal and local housing 

authorities, as well as direct financing products such as mortgage loans or loans for home 

construction. The Group also administers loans made by the SZHP to its customers – these loans are 

agreed between the SZHP and the customer, and the Group’s role is to disburse the funds which it 

has received from the MoF on behalf of the SZHP and subsequently administer the loans. 

 

Business Finance 

 

The objective of the Business Finance unit to support the UAE development agenda including GDP 

growth, economic diversification and job creation through providing funding to corporates and small 

and medium-sized enterprises (“SMEs”). The Group offers affordable finance to SMEs which are 

majority owned by UAE nationals in the form of: asset-backed financing, purchase financing (pre-

sales financing), receivables financing (post-sales financing); and business expansion loan and 

project financing. 

 

Investments and Treasury 

 

The role for treasury and investments is to manage the Group’s liquidity and cash flow as well as its 

foreign exchange positions, its securities investments and its other assets and liabilities. In addition, 

the department acts as the custodian of the Group’s cash and other liquid assets. The department 

seeks to achieve portfolio diversification by maintaining high quality assets portfolio focused on 

achieving strong and sustainable returns. Through treasury liabilities products, the Group also aims 

to obtain long-term, risk-free, stable deposits cheaply to fund its assets and develop sustainable long-

term relationships.  

 

The other activities under this segment is to manage investments properties of the Group. 
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28 Segment Information (continued) 

 

 

Home 

Finance 

Business 

Finance 

Investments 

& Treasury 

Unallocated 

transactions 

& others Total 

 AED '000 AED '000 AED '000 AED '000 AED '000 

For the year ended  

31 December 2018      

Net interest income / profit from 

Islamic finance  28,267   15,825   108,501   (39,595)  112,998  

Net fee and commission income  10,878   220   (533)  1,736   12,301  

Income from investment 

securities  -     -     16,608   -     16,608  

Income from investment 

properties  -     -     16,499   -     16,499  

Other income  -     -     -     4,519   4,519  

      
Net operating income of 

Segment  39,145   16,045   141,075   (33,340)  162,925  

      

As at 31 December 2018      

Investments - - 4,636,623 - 4,636,623 

Loans and Islamic Finances 1,061,931 441,483  (38,564) 1,464,850 

Deposits - - 1,847,858 - 1,847,858 

      

 

Home 

Finance 

Business 

Finance 

Investments 

& Treasury 

Unallocated 

transactions 

& others Total 

 AED '000 AED '000 AED '000 AED '000 AED '000 

For the year ended  

31 December 2017      

Net interest income / profit from 

Islamic finance  9,057   13,852   105,639   (36,804)  91,744  

Net fee and commission income  10,302   87   (505)  -     9,884  

Income from investment 

securities  -     -     20,467   -     20,467  

Income from investment 

properties  -     -     19,889   -     19,889  

Other income  -     -     -     916   916  

      
Net operating income of 

Segment  19,359   13,939   145,490   (35,888)  142,900  

      

As at 31 December 2017      

Investments  -     -     4,794,805   -     4,794,805  

Loans and Islamic Finances  423,899   263,580   -     (25,320)  662,159  

Deposits  -     -     2,374,794   -     2,374,794  
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29 Comparative figures 
 

In addition to the changes in the accounting policy impact highlighted in note 3.17, certain items have 

been reclassified, from the Group’s prior year financial statements to conform to the current year's 

presentation and improve the transparency of certain line items of the statement of financial position, 

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and the 

notes to the accounts. 
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